#### TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY

Faculty of Social Sciences

Ragnar Nurkse School of Innovation and Governance

Riskbek Rustamov

# EXPLORING STUDENT BARRIERS TO DISTANCE EDUCATION IN HIGHER EDUCATION INSTITUTIONS IN THE CASE OF UZBEKISTAN

Master's thesis

Technology Governance and Digital Transformation

Supervisor: Shobhit Shakya, PhD

Tallinn 2022

I hereby declare that I have compiled the thesis independently and all works, important standpoints and data by other authors have been properly referenced and the same paper has not been previously presented for grading. The document length 16125 words from the introduction to the end of conclusion.

Riskbek Rustamov .....

(signature, date) Student code: 184454HAGM Student e-mail address: rirust@ttu.ee

Supervisor: Shobhit Shakya, PhD: The paper conforms to requirements in force

.....

(signature, date)

Chairman of the Defence Committee: Permitted to the defence

.....

(name, signature, date)

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABSTRACT
List of abbreviations and terms
List of figures
List of tables
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. Problem statement:
1.2. Research question:
1.3. Overview of the thesis structure:
2. LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1. Distance education in Higher Education Institutions
2.2. Types of distance education
2.3. Classification of distance education barriers
2.4. Situational barriers to learning
2.5. Institutional barriers to learning
2.6. Dispositional barriers to learning
2.7. Influencing factors of distance education barriers
2.8. Barriers for students in distance education
2.9. Description of distance education in Uzbekistan
2.10. A policy analysis of Uzbekistan on Information Communications Systems and
Distance Education
2.11. Challenges of Distance Education in Uzbekistan
3. METHODOLOGY
3.1. Research philosophy
3.2. Research approach
3.3. Research design
3.4. Case selection
3.5. Data collection method
3.6. Data analysis via Gioia-method
4. INTERVIEW RESULTS
4.1. Demographic findings40

4.2. Students' experiences and attitudes toward distance learning	40
4.3. Exploring the barriers to distance education for Uzbek students in Higher Systems	
5. DISCUSSION	53
6. CONCLUSION	56
LIST OF REFERENCES	57
APPENDICES	66
Appendix 1. Questions Guide	66
Appendix 2. Demographic findings of students	67
Appendix 3. Coding quotations via the Gioia data structure	68
Appendix 4. Non-exclusive licence	71

## ABSTRACT

Nowadays, technology is developing alarmingly, and more and more Higher Education Institutions opt to exploit modern technologies so as to provide high-quality education for their learners. Distance education become a solution for the majority of universities in the current pandemic. However, most developing countries were not prepared for a sudden transformation of education towards e-learning. It is evident that there are a number of barriers and problems for students in terms of the acquisition of knowledge distantly. The purpose of the thesis is to gain theoretical knowledge of barriers and problems faced by students and Universities in the process of implementation of distance learning in Higher Education Institutions. The author chose to explore the case of Uzbekistan as the country is actively attempting to develop modern information and communication technologies and ongoing reforms in the context of the digitalization of the economy. The author puts an emphasis on the theoretical framework in which disruptive innovation is taken as distance learning has a tendency to disrupt the system with its modern technologies. The author is in favor of analyze what factors hinder students to get a distance education of high quality in Uzbekistan. This thesis is dependent on quantitative information which is held in a survey of students in Uzbekistan. Besides the fact that the survey was conducted through the making the form of a questionnaire which target audience has been researched regarding the types of questions.

Keywords: Distance education, Information and Communication Technologies, Higher Education Institutions, Student Barriers

# List of abbreviations and terms

DE	Distance Education
HEIs	Higher Education Institutions
ICT	Information and Communication Technologies
GT	Grounded Theory

# List of figures

Figure 1. Various ways of distance education	15
Figure 5. The Internet usage (% of the population) in Uzbekistan	
Figure 2. The research onion	
Figure 3. Inductive research	
Figure 4. Sample of data structure	
Figure 6. Data structure of the coding for barriers in distance education	52

# List of tables

Table 1. Description of distance education on the barriers' classifications	18
Table 2. The key influencing factors	22
Table 3. The policy analysis of Uzbekistan on distance education	27
Table 5. Description of DE barriers by interview results	55

## **1. INTRODUCTION**

The introduction of modern information and communication technologies (ICT) in the educational process has brought to the creation of distance education which is opposite to traditional teaching methods. More and more universities are in favour of developing their online learning segment in order to increase the volume of students. Higher Education Institutions (HEIs) have experienced several challenges in terms of the integration of ICT in distance learning. Although there are various reasons for the adoption of e-learning in HEIs, elearning has helped to transform education and has become associated with, and construed in a variety of contexts, such as distance learning, online learning, and networked learning (Wilson, 2001). "Distance learning, also called distance education, e-learning, and online learning, form of education in which the main elements include the physical separation of teachers and students during instruction and the use of various technologies to facilitate student-teacher and student-student communication" (Simonson, 2016). "The foundational purpose for distance education was to allow remote students to study at home" therefore the method of delivering instruction would "evolve to methods and media that are the current status for technology-based instruction and training" (Claus, 2005, p. 426). Technological development is increasing alarmingly which has made the Internet available to the vast majority of people in the world. Volery (2000) states that the fast expansion of the internet and related technological advancements, in conjunction with limited budgets and social demands for improved access to higher education, has produced a substantial incentive for universities to introduce e-learning courses. Universities will leave behind in the context of technological advancements if they do not tend to maintain e-learning technologies. However, it is a gruelling process for countries that have Internet issues and a lack of technological involvement in HEIs. Holley (2000) states that e-learning is difficult to implement without the full cooperation and support of lecturers. Thus, the author would like to review the challenges and problems encountered when the process of implementation of distance education is taking place. The author would like to address the barriers to distance education in HEIs in today's modern world and point out the significant factors that should be taken into account before the implantation of distance education in HEIs.

#### **1.1. Problem statement:**

The establishment of distance education in HEIs is vitally important to bring high-quality education and access to educational materials for students easily. If e-learning is to benefit students by offering students greater access to higher education, it is necessary to consider not only access to education but also the access to technology where computers become an indispensable element of effective e-learning courses (Ribiero 2002, p. 85). However, there is a myriad of challenges and issues for students to get distance learning with high quality. The author would like to describe what factors and obstacles hinders students in HEIs to get distance learning.

Most governments around the world have encountered a new type of crisis in their educational systems due to the spread of the coronavirus (Covid-19). According to World Bank (2020), more than 180 countries decided to close schools while affecting about 1.7 billion students as of April 22. It is evident that there is no exception for Uzbekistan here and the restrictive response measures were deployed by the government of Uzbekistan to prevent the spread of Covid-19 infection. The author chose the case of Uzbekistan to explore the perception of students regarding barriers to distance learning and the use of distance education for the first time in vast volume due to the Corona Virus (COVID-19) emergency in a given area. However, it is not the whole picture and there are other justifications for choosing the case of Uzbekistan. As World Bank (2018) provided statistics on Internet connection around the world which states about around one-third of the population still does not have Internet access and nearly 50 percent live in rural areas. Remarkably, one of Uzbekistan's issues is connectivity. The country ranks 122nd in the world for mobile internet speed and 95the for fixed broadband, as of March 2020. Uzbekistan (World Bank, 2020).

The author opts to denote challenges and issues regarding the implantation of DE in Uzbekistan. Uzbekistan had to act a rapid action to engage students with education during the pandemic. Although the country was exploring the introduction of distance learning in the past years. Admittedly, the usage of distance learning in higher education was not tested and scattered across universities and institutions in Uzbekistan. A sudden need for DE was inevitable during the pandemic and it was used for the first time in the history of Uzbekistan. The Republic of Uzbekistan is in favour of entering a solid educational system and developing its state services to be more online. It is worthwhile to note that the Uzbek government approved several resolutions and decrees for example as indicated by the 228th pronouncement of the Cabinet of Ministers of the Republic of Uzbekistan on 25 July 2012 "On setting up the e-learning focus at instructive establishments under the ministry of higher and secondary education" the e-learning centre, which arranges with the establishment of e-learning, was managed. The solid management of HEIs and ICT in the educational process was one of the main directions of the "Program of integrated development of higher education in 2017-2021" approved by the President of the Republic of Uzbekistan. Concerning providing the foundation for the development and improvement of the society based on ICT, which has created a consistent mechanism for the tasks in this area. Although not all of the population of the Republic of Uzbekistan is fully aware of it, world experience shows that over time this system covers all aspects of social life. Transition to cooperation is exactly the process of e-government formation. One of the main reasons for inefficiency is not enough IT knowledge among people and the access to the Internet. The author would like to give broader information regarding Internet access and electronic learning platforms. The size of the country and its geographical distance from the centre, the presence of regions is a major factor in the development of distance learning which opts to lead to attention. In the current difficult times, this type of education should be widely used. The establishment of distance education provides many problems in Uzbekistan for sure. These are funding, technical support, and a qualified engineer and educator in the field of distance learning. For example, the lack of staff, but the government needs to solve these problems profoundly. Admittedly, the needs of highly qualified personnel are worthwhile to take into account in online education who is capable of working with e-learning systems and comprehending computer equipment. The organization of distance learning in Uzbekistan is worthwhile to consider and its effectiveness is obvious.

#### **1.2. Research question:**

The author would like to emphasize the research question and objective. The principal objective of the paper is to analyse the challenges of distance education in higher education to identify the main problems of its development based on the Uzbekistan case. The research questions are as follows:

- 1. What are the barriers to the effective implementation of distance education in higher education institutions (HEI)?
  - 1.1. What factors do students limit to getting high-quality distance education in HEI in the case of Uzbekistan?

The author claims to manage a solid understating of the paper with the help of quantitative data. Furthermore, the author will study the theoretical foundations of distance education and provide a rationale for disruptive technologies in education.

The study of barriers to distance education

#### **1.3.** Overview of the thesis structure:

To make an overview of the thesis, the author would like to provide brief information on how the thesis is structured and formulated. This thesis includes several chapters and sub-chapters. **The first chapter** of the thesis gives data on the formulation of DE in HEIs and discusses the overview of DE in HEIs. The current scope and state of Uzbekistan in terms of ICT, digitalization of various government sectors as well as education. Then, the development stage of distance education and problems in a given area is discussed, and formulated research question is based on it. In **the second chapter**, the literature review is presented where distance education, barriers to distance education, and factors influencing barriers to distance education are described. In according to **the third chapter**, consists of the research methodology where the research designs, case selection, and the data collection method are identified. The **fourth chapter** provides data on empirical findings which are discussed in **the fifth chapter**. The discussion part is depicted in terms of literature and empirical findings discussed. Overall, **the sixth chapter** sums up the thesis with the whole picture of the given information, defining barriers for students in Uzbekistan.

## **2. LITERATURE REVIEW**

This chapter presents and studies literature related to the purpose of the study and research questions. The theoretical foundations of distance education are presented, and the types of distance education and barriers to distance education are revealed. Distance education barriers have been classified and factors analysis is accomplished. The role of information and communication technologies in the Uzbek government is described. the Challenges of DE in Uzbekistan are analysed. The concepts, features, and essence of each studied term are revealed.

#### **2.1.** Distance education in Higher Education Institutions

It is worthwhile to state that various terms were used to identify distance education. Distance education (DE) can be defined as "a process to create and provide access to learning when the source of information and the learners are separated by time and distance, or both" (Miller and Honeyman, 1993). Distance education must be defined on another path through decades such as "institution-based, formal education where the learning group is separated, and where interactive telecommunications systems are used to connect learners, resources, and instructors" (Schlosser and Simonson 2009, p. 1). Furthermore, Gunawardena and McIsaac (2004) defined DE as an umbrella term that covers many terms and a variety of models, including distance learning, open learning, networked learning, online learning, flexible learning, and distributed learning in connected space. Edge and Loegering (2000) stated that there are factors that distance learners demand in high-level quality and Edge and Loegering (2000) included the following factors in their studies which are "registration, delivery of course material and exams, quick turn-around times for grading exam and assignments and answering questions". At present, due to the lack of conceptual views in this area that meet the requirements of the 21<sup>st</sup> century, the introduction of information systems in some activities of higher education institutions is vitally important. Distance learning in higher education is the fastest-growing segment of education technology (Moore and Fodrey, 2018). Full informatization of the activities of higher education institutions has become more complicated due to new reforms in the higher education system and did not require relevant changes in some regulations. To do this, the first task of informatization will be to re-engineer existing processes. In improving the quality of education, the main focus is on creating educational content and

organizing its open use. It does not require the teacher and student to be in the same physical environment, in a so-called face-to-face situation (Hiltz and Turoff, 2005; Sife et al., 2007)

It is pivotal to review that DE in higher education plays a significant role to keep up with the needs and requirements of students. Information technologies and e-learning systems are seen as essential factors in carrying out the activity of universities, these institutions investing more and more in online systems and devices (Popovici, 2015). However, the establishment of distance education needs to have a plan to run it on an effective path. Traditional face-to-face educational institutes that plan to implement distance learning initiatives require concrete strategic thinking to integrate educational programs based on technology into their established learning methods and traditions (Oliver, 2010). Watkins and Kaufman (2003) state that there are several challenges for DE which prevent effective planning of distance education such as globalization, collaborative course development, educational content sharing, and adaptation to individual learners. Moreland and Saleh (2007) state that distance education became an important aspect in the process of teaching and learning in higher education because of technological innovation. Furthermore, it is common to fathom that universities are likely to complete routine tasks such as the preparation of their syllabus while becoming adaptive to new technology, such as receiving homework, answering emails, and using Internet technology (Almobarraz, 2008). All in all, students should be prepared for the use of this technology on the same path to accomplish their educational research.

Distance education has the following characteristics (Keegan, 1986):

- the separation of teacher and learner
- planning and preparation of learning material in educational organization,
- use of media, often print-based, to carry course content and to unite teacher and student,
- some form of two-way communication
- students learning as individuals

However, Sherron and Boettcher (1997) pointed out five characteristics which are as follows: 1) media and technologies, 2) communication features, 3) student characteristics and goals, 4) educational philosophy and curriculum design, and 5) infrastructure. It is indisputable fact that the development of technology plays a profound role in distance education in HEIs.



Figure 1. Various ways of distance education

#### Source: (UNESCO, 2020)

Figure 1 shows different ways of distribution of DE in HEIs. Two categories (one-way and twoway) are illustrated with their ways of sharing education on distance. Those students, who possess problems with access to technology and the Internet, are suggested to provide with printed materials, books, and television in terms of no teacher involvement. Concerning interactive students, SMS, phone calls, and home visits are given as a solution to get the acquisition of the knowledge distantly. However, students, who have availability to the uninterrupted Internet and obtain high digital literacy and use, can access learning apps and social media platforms from the perspective of self-learning. It is followed by interactive learners who can use the features of video conferencing and social media platforms as well.

#### 2.2. Types of distance education

There are mainly three classifications for the types of distance education which are synchronous, synchronous, and hybrid e-learning courses. The term e-learning is required to define as "e-learning involves the use of a computer or electronic device in some way to provide learning, educational or learning material" (Derek, 2003). Synchronous learning is described as "distance education delivery where students and teachers interact with one another from different locations but at the same time. It is a relatively recent phenomenon in terms of e-

learning, facilitated by technology like Skype, Google Hangouts, and Zoom". (Woodcock, 2020) The Internet plays a profound role in this delivery type as it plays a basis for the practice of this online course. This model focuses on the distribution of a class-based course using interactive telecommunication technologies, consisting of students living at different locations. The result is a mixed classroom that combines traditional learners and DE learners. It can be indicated as students and teachers must be at a certain time, in a certain place and the number of participants varies from one to five and more, the greater the number of participants, the greater the technical, logical, and educational complexity. Synchronous e-learning requires all students to participate in the classes at the same time and the method of delivery is usually interactive and includes Internet chat sessions, teleconferences, telecourses, and web conferencing (Harrison, 2011). It is possible to organize educational places for students not at school, but home or work, and educational institutions are adapted to serve students living in nearby areas.

Whereas Asynchronous e-learning is the opposite term for Synchronous, it is defined as "Asynchronous e-learning, commonly facilitated by media such as e-mail and discussion boards, supports work relations among learners and with teachers, even when participants cannot be online at the same time. It is thus a key component of flexible e-learning". (Hrastinski, 2007) This model focuses on the use of printed text and other tools of the course (e.g., video or computer disks). This allows the student to organize student interactions within a remote group maturity and helps transmit interactive telecommunications using technology to learn the course. All course materials are provided in the form of printed publications, computer disks, or videos, and students can use them individually or in groups at any time. Moreover, course materials are used for more than one semester and are different for each teacher, and students and teachers gather from time to time for classes. One of the principal advantages of this delivery model is noted as "audio files, video files, and documents can be made available to stream or download, and the creation of this kind of teaching archive is a major advantage" (Woodcock, 2020). Classes are organized to clarify the basic concepts of students, develop problem-solving skills, work in groups, and perform other tasks.

Hybrid online courses, it is defined as "classes in which instruction takes place in a traditional classroom setting augmented by computer-based or online activities which can replace classroom seat time" (Scida and Saury, 2006). In this model, students are not responsible for

being at a specific time or place. Students have a detailed syllabus of the course and content representative materials package and have the opportunity to contact a teacher who will evaluate the work by answering the supervisor's questions. Communication between students and teachers is accomplished through the use of telephone, computer conferences, e-mail, and regular mail. It can be indicated as classes are not conducted in the classroom and students study subjects independently based on detailed instructions in the program. Additionally, it is also called blended learning the concept of blended learning is denoted as "a deliberate 'blending' of face-to-face and online instructional activities, intending to stimulate and support learning" (Boelens, et al. 2015). Students communicate with the teacher only at certain times, and with other students at any time and place, and all course materials are provided in the form of printed publications, computer disks, or videos, and students can use them at any time, in any place. Additionally, course materials are used for several years. These materials will be created with the participation of course organizers, experts, and specialists and will be used in a common form for all teachers. The author would like to address the number of barriers to the above-mentioned types of DE.

#### **2.3.** Classification of distance education barriers

The principal classifications of DE barriers are situational, institutional, dispositional, epistemological, and technical barriers (Rezabek, 1999; Garland, 1993; Schilke, 2001).

Rezabek (1999) classified the barriers to DE into three categories which are situational, institutional, and dispositional. However, Garland (1993) grouped barriers for DE into four categories and added epistemological barriers to Rezabek's (1999) barriers categories. Moreover, Schilke (2001) updated the categories of DE barriers and added technical barriers to Garland's (1993) model.

The author decided to define the main classifications of DE barriers through Table 1. Thus, Table 1 below provides information regarding what factors and issues are involved in the study of barriers by Rezabek (1999), Garland (1993), and Schilke (2001).

Barriers	Factors	Issues
Situational	An individual's general situation or environment	issues as transportation, age, time constraints, and family responsibilities.
Institutional	The creation of an institution's programs, policies, and procedures	problems with admissions, registration, scheduling of courses, financial aid, and supportservices.
Dispositional	The association of an individual's background, attitude, motivation, learning style, and self-confidence.	lack of student's confidence for one's ability
Epistemological	The course's difficulty, technicality, considerable theorization	that students lacked prerequisite knowledge; and that the content lacked personal interest or relevance
Technical	The lack of computers, difficulty accessing the Internet	student access to educational materials

Table 1. Description of distance education on the barriers' classifications

Source: (Rezabek, 1999; Garland, 1993; Schilke, 2001)

By and large, other scholars and researchers used various classifications in their studies regarding DE barriers. Leggett and Persichitte (1998) used five basic barrier categories in their investigation: time, access, resource, expertise, and support. Merriel et al. (1992) discussed three main categories in connection to barriers which are ethical, legal, and cultural issues. Galusha (1997) classifies barriers as a student, faculty, and organizational barriers in distance learning. The author decided to touch upon the following principal barriers to distance learning more in detail: situational, institutional, and dispositional.

### 2.4. Situational barriers to learning

Cross (1981a) made the research on adult students' participation in the sphere of education. In her studies, she categorized barriers to participation as follows: situational, dispositional, and institutional. Situational barriers are followed by an individual personal condition in life. Studies showed that working related or family conditions tends to be a leading factor concerning a certain situation. Cross (1981b) defined situational barriers as association with a person's life situation at a given point in the family life cycle and working life. In addition, Deggs (2011) defines situational barriers as an issue that effect adult learners' life circumstances. The definition of situational barriers lays profound stress on students' issues that end up with the limitation of an effective learning environment. Many scholars researched key factors for situational barriers. "After enrolling in a higher education program several situational barriers such as time management and health issues have impacted adult learners' academic success" (Gato and Martin, 2009).

#### 2.5. Institutional barriers to learning

Institutional barriers consist of limitations regarding methods institutions use to design, deliver, and administer learning activities (MacKeracher et al., 2006a). "Institutional or structural barriers include institutional practices and procedures that discourage or prevent participation, such as lack of provision or opportunity, the timing of provision, high fees or entry qualifications, general lack of flexibility" (Saar et al., 2013). However, MacKeracher et al., (2006b) added more issues in their study such as the issues of providing financial support to learners to pay for tuition fees, resources needed for learning activities, a general lack of support services at times and places suitable to adult learners; and recognition of prior learning and previously obtained academic credentials. Cross (1981) classified four issues concerning institutional barriers: (1) scheduling problems; (2) problems with location or transportation; (3) procedural problems related to enrolment; and (4) lack of information regarding procedures or the programs of study. Whereas Schuetze and Slowey (2000) made the researched ten countries in terms of the changes in adult's participation in HEIs and they figured out six institutional factors for the participation of adults which are as follows: (1) institutional differentiation, (2) open admission for those without traditional entry qualifications; (3) mode of study; (4) financial and other support; (5) institutional governance and control; (6) continuing educational opportunities.

#### 2.6. Dispositional barriers to learning

Cross (1981) defined dispositional barriers as "those related to attitudes and self-perceptions about oneself as a learner" (p. 98). Merriam (1984) proposed that dispositional barriers are the most powerful barriers rather than institutional or situational barriers due to the reflection of

past negative experiences with education. "Dispositional barriers are psychological perceptions about oneself as a learner which cause difficulties for a student in adapting to the educational environment" (Mertesdorf, 1990). Muilenberg and Berge (2005) investigated severe barriers for the student by online learning and their empirical results found dispositional barriers as well which are lack of social interaction, learner motivation issues, lack of technical skills, and lack of academic skills.

#### 2.7. Influencing factors of distance education barriers

There are some influencing factors for the effective establishment of DE. Scholars made several research on the identification of factors for DE. The author opts to explore the conducted survey regarding barriers to distance education in 2000. Berge and Muilenburg (2000a) announced results by rank as follows:

- 1. Increased time commitment
- 2. Lack of money to implement distance education programs
- 3. Organizational resistance to change
- 4. Lack of shared vision for distance education in the organization
- 5. Lack of support staff to help with course development
- 6. Lack of strategic planning for distance education
- 7. The slow pace of implementation
- 8. Faculty compensation/incentives
- 9. Difficulty keeping up with technological changes
- 10. Lack of technology-enhanced classrooms, labs, or infrastructure

Moreover, Berge and Muilenburg (2000b) identified the weakest barriers to distance education by rank as follows:

- 1. Competition with on-campus courses
- 2. Lack of personal technological expertise
- 3. Lack of acceptable use policy
- 4. Lack of transferability of credits
- 5. Problems with vast distances and time zones
- 6. Technology fee

- 7. Tuition rate
- 8. Local, state, or federal regulations
- 9. Ethical issues
- 10. Existing union contracts
- 11. Lack of parental involvement

Other scholars and researchers also analysed problems and barriers to the effective establishment of distance education. Meacham and Evans (1989) stated that geographical isolation has been identified as one of the major problems for distance students. However, telecommunication is a key factor in DE to maintain solid DE training. The frustrations resulting from problems with communication between students and academic institution institutions are factors of which distance education planners should be well-informed (Wood, 1996). It is worthy to note that "problems and barriers encountered by the student fall into several distinct categories; costs and motivators, feedback and teacher contact, student support and services, alienation and isolation, lack of experience, and training" (Galusha, 1998). It is pivotal that an organization or a country possess fundamental planning for the effective running of DE in a given area. Distance education enterprises are highly complex organizations and the issues concerning distance education enterprises are as complex as the enterprises themselves. To be successful, distance education enterprises require a high degree of planning, management control, and excellent communications (Schlosser, 1994). These problems include "the quality of instruction, hidden costs, misuse of technology, and the attitudes of instructors, students, and administrators. Each one of these affects the overall quality of distance learning as a product" (Valentine, 2002). Niebuhr et, al. (2014), Dyrbye et, al. (2009), and Attardi (2015) introduced the number of problems with online classes as online classes also have limitations, including problems with internet access, poor internet connection quality, and insufficient digital skills of the respondents. Some benefits such as time flexibility can also be a limitation, especially for students who have difficulties with self-discipline. To sum up, the author would like to give overall barriers to DE in today's modern world which Tsai et, al. 2020) counted following: personal, technical, logistical, social interaction, and financial barriers.

The author would like to touch upon the doctoral dissertation of Wang (2013) who made the research on DE barriers in China as well. Wang (2013) suggested the key influencing factors of barriers for online learners in Table 2.

Table 2. The key influencing factors

Factors	Involved issues
Learners' demographic variables	gender, age, ethnicity, marriage, children, entry education level, work pressure, financial burdens, support from family, the number of online courses completed, the number of online courses dropped, and the likelihood of taking a future online course
Learners' psychological features	learning motivation, learning preferences, influence of previous education experience, whether or not students experienced prejudicial treatment in the traditional classroom, ability of self-control and self- adjustment, expectation on success, learning effectiveness in the online environment, and learning enjoyment in the online environment
Learners' learning skills	the ability in using computers to learn, ability to balance learning requirements with other responsibilities such as household work, accomplishment of successful learning based on the use of resources, ability to understand feedback and dealing with assessment.
External factors	teachers' instruction and support, the learning environment, availability of a learning support system, whether or not the courses are well deSigned, appropriately presented and suitable for students' needs and levels, access to learning resources and facilities, including computers, the Internet and World Wide Web

Source: (Wang, Q., 2013)

It is not the whole picture there are other justifications for the given area as well and the author will follow the above-mentioned favors in the author's empirical studies.

#### 2.8. Barriers for students in distance education

By and large, researchers and scholars argued with their findings to determine challenges and barriers for students in HEIs. As Bates (2005) clarifies E-learning is a great opportunity for those individuals who have little time to study because of work or other commitments as well as those who cannot undertake or continue face-to-face education because of physical barriers. Karatas and Simsek (2009) made research on the level of satisfaction of students in terms of conventional, hybrid, and online education and their findings described that most of the students are in favour of getting education conventionally. The students explained this factor by claiming a desire to communicate with classmates face to face manner rather than online. Whereas the completed research regarding the level of satisfaction of distance education is distinguished relatively. Gillett-Swan (2017) provided some of the issues experienced by a student in HEIs such as anxiety associated with using technology; being out of one's comfort zone; (perception of) inequity in assessment, particularly in "group" assignments; and the (perceived) inability or difficulty in peer interaction, particularly in presentations. Graham and Misanchuk (2004) highlight that collaborative learning tasks where individuals may be barely managing to navigate the system on their own, let alone need to traverse the complex environments of group interaction and social negotiation. It is worthwhile to indicate the online assessment of student's tasks Boyles (2011) research showed that University students choosing to undertake study online have indicated a preference for online assessment and often perceive their learning experiences to be enhanced through online media. Simonson et al. (2011) believe that measurement and evaluation are one of the most vital issues in distance learning. Valentina (2002) showed problems that affect the overall quality of distance learning as a product and these problems are the quality of instruction, hidden costs, misuse of technology, and the attitudes of instructors, students, and administrators.

Ajay (2012) emphasized seven problems faced by students in distance education which are as follows:

- 1. Nature of Study Material
- 2. Lack of Multi-Media Instruction
- 3. Insecurities about learning
- 4. Lack of feedback or contact with the teacher
- 5. Lack of support and services
- 6. Lack of Social Interaction

#### 7. Lack of student training

According to the first factor, study materials must be taken into consideration for the students who are not well-known in distance study. Another challenge that lacks multi-media instruction, is a key segment to focus on as study materials are not well evolved based on concrete instruction. Suggested the third issue Knapper (1988) states that distance learners are more likely to have insecurities about learning from traditional students. Lack of feedback is also a principal problem of distance learners which could be tackled by technological methods. About the fifth suggested problem, the level of support and services for distance learners lacks in terms of recommendations, library services, financial aid, and others. The shortage of social interaction is crucial to note as students would like to be engaged with other students face to face manner and contact with academic staff or administration lacks considerably. Lack of student training is a major problem for distance learners who do not know the use of technologies.

#### 2.9. Description of distance education in Uzbekistan

In the Republic of Uzbekistan, the most important issue is the renewal and modernization of the model of education to enrich the stages of continuing education. It is also worthy to recall that open educational resources in Uzbekistan are inextricably linked with the distance education system. DE is based on, along with traditional educational technologies, "the student's independent work with specially developed electronic teaching materials, manuals, audio, and video resources within the information and educational environment" (UNESCO, 2011). The formation of the information economy in Uzbekistan is inextricably linked with the development of ICT, characterized by several stages of development. The history of the development of ICT in education was a step ahead after the acquisition of independence by the Republic of Uzbekistan which made it "necessary to improve the structure of the education system and make adjustments to its content. An effective step on this path was the Law "On Education" in 1992. The author would like to go through the development of higher education from the early stages of the education system's formation in Uzbekistan. It is important to state that "academic year in software development, network technology, mobile radio, e-commerce, and information security began training specialists from 2002-2003" (Siddikov, 2021). The development of ICT in the sector of education was developed in

further years as "all higher education institutions were connected to the global Internet, and the number of computers in the higher education system reached 18,332, there were 6.7 computers per 100 students in 2005. Ziyo.edu.uz e-learning database includes subjects taught in higher education institutions" (Siddikov, 2021). There was an active modernization of technical infrastructure and materials in 2011. Based on the Resolution of the First President of the Republic of Uzbekistan dated May 20, 2011 "On measures to strengthen the material and technical base of higher education institutions and radically improve the quality of training of highly qualified specialists" aimed at further strengthening the material and technical base of higher education in Uzbekistan Program for modernization of material and technical base and radical improvement of the quality of training" (Uralov, 2020). It is also worthy to state that the material and technical base of higher education institutions was equipped with computers and information technology from 2011 to 2016 (Siddikov, 2020). Additionally, in the higher education system of Uzbekistan in 2018 an important decree the Decree of the president of the Republic of Uzbekistan Sh. M. Mirziyoyev dated May 8, 2018, PD No.-5438 "On measures to fundamentally improve the system of training, retraining and advanced training of personnel of prosecutor's office". The president of the Republic of Uzbekistan signed a significant decree regarding distance education on 19 May 2020 as a "remote directed training manual for obtaining the necessary knowledge, skills, and abilities using information and communication technologies and the world information network Internet and the procedure for organizing distance education is determined by the Cabinet of Ministers of the Republic of Uzbekistan". The widespread use of information technology, telecommunication technologies, and technical means in the education system in Uzbekistan in this area, as well as in all areas. A well-developed student support system is also a guarantee for success in distance learning teaching and learning (Segobye, 2007). Uzbektelecom JSC has developed a set of necessary software and organizational software for high-speed and high-quality Internet-based video conferencing systems. The system, which includes six facilities, consists of 24 special computers, 24 webcams and microphones, 48 special speakers, and 48 widescreen screens. In addition, the current system provides rapid transfer of new knowledge and experience, connection and exchange of experience with other universities, increasing the economic efficiency of education, the widespread use of audio-video, animation, and graphics in the educational process, the theory and practice. the Ministry of Higher and Secondary Specialized Education began to form online resources on

higher education standards and launched the EDUUZ telegram channel, which also publishes information on the latest developments in the field of education and posts materials for selfeducation. At the same time, the process of formation of more than 3500 electronic textbooks in various disciplines continues, which are posted on the website "Innovation Kutubkhona" (Inoyatova, 2021). Through the system of distance education, it is possible to improve the quality of training, create opportunities for distance learning for students, and bring together various interactive forms of education. Today, the practice of distance learning abroad at home based on an individual plan, the use of video lessons prepared by the university, inservice training, as well as additional training in other areas, and capacity building for personal interests is widely used. The information and communication technology infrastructure introduced in the educational institutions of our country also serves to use such opportunities in the future. Summarizing the above, it can be said that the introduction of the distance learning complex in educational institutions will bring all-around benefits. The higher education system has all the conditions for the introduction of this complex. All higher education institutions (HEIs) throughout the country are equipped with computers, and information and communication technologies. They are all connected to the Internet with limited speed. The widespread introduction of these technologies in the education system will help to solve many problems facing universities promptly. Nowadays, computer science is becoming more and more important. The opportunities of computer technology can be effectively used in the development of students' personality-oriented development, and creative abilities. Educators are not only in the preparation of methodical materials for the lesson from the computer but also in the process of individual work with students, in the use of computer programs necessary for the teaching of science. It should also be noted that the distance learning method based on videoconferencing technology is one of the methods that require a little more money than other methods of distance learning, as it requires a highquality channel and special equipment.

# **2.10.** A policy analysis of Uzbekistan on Information Communications Systems and Distance Education

Before touching upon a policy analysis of Uzbekistan on distance learning, the author investigated the government policy models on DE, and Gellman-Danley and Fetzner (1998)

and Berge (1998) claimed a potent model to provide an incentive for decision-makers in the policy area of DE. They suggested nine elements for attention: 1) Academic, 2) Fiscal, 3) Geographic, 4) Governance, 5) Labour-Management, 6) Legal, 7) Student Support Services, 8) Technical, and 9) Cultural.

It is worthwhile to mention that the modern distance learning technologies have been considerably used in HEIs of Uzbekistan such as cloud technologies, mobile learning elements, and mobile educational applications. However, Karimov and Xikmatov (2018) comprehend those advanced innovative educational technologies should be systematically implemented throughout the country in order to evolve the training of specialists with quality. Thus, the systematic implementation of educational technologies requires solid legal regulation in this area.

It is indisputable fact that Constitutional norms regulate the area of education in Uzbekistan. For the sake of a broader view of n given point, several government institutions are in charge of providing and fulfilling legal acts of education including the Law of the Republic of Uzbekistan "On Education", the Resolutions and Decrees of the President of the country, Order of Minister of Higher and Secondary Special Education of the Republic of Uzbekistan, Decree of the Cabinet of Ministers of the Republic of Uzbekistan. The author decided to investigate the numbers of decrees and laws which were promulgated by the above-motioned government institutions. Table 3 mainly presents decrees and laws in the area of DE and ICT. Uzbekistan got its independence in 1991 and the author made the policy analysis of the given area from the year independence to 2021.

Table 3. The policy analysis of Uzbekistan on distance education

President of the Republic of Uzbekistan decree		
22.06.2021	On the parameters of the state order for	To submit to the State Commission a list of state
	admission to higher educational	higher educational institutions in which, starting
	institutions of the Republic of Uzbekistan	from the 2021/2022 academic year, distance
	in the 2021/2022 academic year	learning is organized, as well as proposals on
		admission parameters for the relevant areas of
		education.

04.09.2001	On measures to improve the system of	Introduction of a distance method of teaching staff
04.09.2001	training pedagogical staff for secondary	with the wide use of the capabilities of modern
		_
	special, vocational educational institutions	information technologies and the international
16040010		information network Internet.
16.04.2012	On measures for the implementation of	In order to create a single information and
	the investment project "creation of the	computer network that unites all higher
	national network "electronic education"	educational institutions of the republic and ensures
	in the Republic of Uzbekistan"	their integration with international educational
		resources, the widespread introduction of modern
		information and pedagogical technologies into the
		educational process, including distance learning.
27.08.2019	On the introduction of the system of	development of leadership and teaching staff skills
	continuous professional development of	in advanced pedagogical, information and
	management and pedagogical staff of	communication and innovative technologies and
	higher educational institutions	their active implementation in the educational
		process using the worldwide information network
		Internet, multimedia systems and distance learning
		methods.
06.08.2020	On measures to develop the spheres of	automation of education management and creation
	education and upbringing and science in	of a comprehensive analysis system using modern
	the new period of development of	information and communication technologies,
	Uzbekistan	further development of electronic resources and
		distance education, promotion of IT professions
		among students.
08.03.2020	on the state program for the	To experimentally introduce distance learning in
	implementation of the action strategy in	stages from the 2020/2021 academic year at the
	five priority areas of development of the	Tashkent University of Information Technologies
	republic of Uzbekistan in 2017 - 2021 in	named after Muhammad al-Khwarizmi, Tashkent
	the "year of development of science,	State University of Law and Tashkent State
	education and digital economy"	Pedagogical University.
24.09.2021	on additional measures to ensure	the introduction of correspondence, distance and
	academic and organizational and	evening forms of education at the master's stage,
	management independence of state higher	the introduction of a system for assigning dual
	educational institutions	qualifications, including practical qualifications, in
		areas of education and specialties.
		admission to study of citizens of foreign countries
		on a paid-contract basis and the organization of a
		distance form of their education at the second stage
l		

		- by May 1, 2022, introduce the section of the
		Information system "Supervision of the quality of
		education". At the same time, a database of
		indicators of higher educational institutions on the
		quality of education is being formed, the
		maintenance of the national rating of higher
		educational institutions is being automated, and it
		will also be possible to monitor the quality of
20.00.2005		education remotely.
28.09.2005	on creating a public educational	promoting the introduction of distance learning
	information network of the Republic of	methods into the education system, a wide range of
	Uzbekistan	other information and communication services for
		students and youth of the republic.
10.05.0000	Law of the Republic of Uzbo	ekistan about education
19.05. 2020	Article 16. Distance education:	
	Distance education is aimed at obtaining by students the necessary knowledge, skills and	
	abilities in accordance with the curriculum	n at a distance using information and communication
	abilities in accordance with the curriculum technologies and the global information ne	n at a distance using information and communication etwork Internet.
	abilities in accordance with the curriculum technologies and the global information ne The procedure for organizing distance edu	n at a distance using information and communication etwork Internet.
	abilities in accordance with the curriculum technologies and the global information ne	n at a distance using information and communication etwork Internet.
Order	abilities in accordance with the curriculum technologies and the global information ne The procedure for organizing distance edu the Republic of Uzbekistan.	n at a distance using information and communication etwork Internet. ucation is determined by the Cabinet of Ministers of
Order	abilities in accordance with the curriculum technologies and the global information ne The procedure for organizing distance edu the Republic of Uzbekistan.	n at a distance using information and communication etwork Internet. ucation is determined by the Cabinet of Ministers of y special education of the Republic of
Order	abilities in accordance with the curriculum technologies and the global information ne The procedure for organizing distance edu the Republic of Uzbekistan. <b>of Minister of higher and secondar</b> <b>Uzbekis</b>	n at a distance using information and communication etwork Internet. ucation is determined by the Cabinet of Ministers of y special education of the Republic of stan
	abilities in accordance with the curriculum technologies and the global information ne The procedure for organizing distance edu the Republic of Uzbekistan. of Minister of higher and secondar Uzbekis on the approval of the regulation on	an at a distance using information and communication etwork Internet. ucation is determined by the Cabinet of Ministers of <b>y special education of the Republic of</b> <b>stan</b> introduction into practice of interactive teaching
<b>Order</b> 09.01.2003	abilities in accordance with the curriculum technologies and the global information ne The procedure for organizing distance edu the Republic of Uzbekistan. <b>of Minister of higher and secondar</b> <b>Uzbekis</b> on the approval of the regulation on higher education	a at a distance using information and communication etwork Internet. ucation is determined by the Cabinet of Ministers of <b>y special education of the Republic of</b> <b>stan</b> introduction into practice of interactive teaching methods, new pedagogical and information
	abilities in accordance with the curriculum technologies and the global information ne The procedure for organizing distance edu the Republic of Uzbekistan. <b>of Minister of higher and secondar</b> <b>Uzbekis</b> on the approval of the regulation on higher education	an at a distance using information and communication etwork Internet. ucation is determined by the Cabinet of Ministers of <b>y special education of the Republic of</b> <b>stan</b> introduction into practice of interactive teaching methods, new pedagogical and information technologies, methods and means of self-education
	abilities in accordance with the curriculum technologies and the global information ne The procedure for organizing distance edu the Republic of Uzbekistan. of Minister of higher and secondar Uzbekis on the approval of the regulation on higher education	an at a distance using information and communication etwork Internet. ucation is determined by the Cabinet of Ministers of <b>y special education of the Republic of</b> <b>stan</b> introduction into practice of interactive teaching methods, new pedagogical and information technologies, methods and means of self-education and individualization of education, distance
09.01.2003	abilities in accordance with the curriculum technologies and the global information ne The procedure for organizing distance edu the Republic of Uzbekistan. of Minister of higher and secondar Uzbekis on the approval of the regulation on higher education	an at a distance using information and communication etwork Internet. ucation is determined by the Cabinet of Ministers of <b>y special education of the Republic of</b> <b>stan</b> introduction into practice of interactive teaching methods, new pedagogical and information technologies, methods and means of self-education and individualization of education, distance education systems.
09.01.2003	abilities in accordance with the curriculum technologies and the global information ne The procedure for organizing distance edu the Republic of Uzbekistan. <b>of Minister of higher and secondar</b> <b>Uzbekis</b> on the approval of the regulation on higher education	an at a distance using information and communication etwork Internet. ucation is determined by the Cabinet of Ministers of <b>y special education of the Republic of</b> <b>stan</b> introduction into practice of interactive teaching methods, new pedagogical and information technologies, methods and means of self-education and individualization of education, distance education systems. Retraining and advanced training through distance
	abilities in accordance with the curriculum technologies and the global information ne The procedure for organizing distance edu the Republic of Uzbekistan. of Minister of higher and secondar Uzbekis on the approval of the regulation on higher education on the approval of the regulation on the procedure for organizing and carrying	An at a distance using information and communication etwork Internet. Aucation is determined by the Cabinet of Ministers of <b>y special education of the Republic of</b> <b>stan</b> introduction into practice of interactive teaching methods, new pedagogical and information technologies, methods and means of self-education and individualization of education, distance education systems. Retraining and advanced training through distance learning methods are carried out in the form of
09.01.2003	abilities in accordance with the curriculum technologies and the global information ne The procedure for organizing distance edu the Republic of Uzbekistan. of Minister of higher and secondar Uzbekis on the approval of the regulation on higher education on the approval of the regulation on the procedure for organizing and carrying out retraining and professional courses	<ul> <li>a at a distance using information and communication etwork Internet.</li> <li>a cation is determined by the Cabinet of Ministers of <b>y special education of the Republic of</b></li> <li><b>stan</b></li> <li>introduction into practice of interactive teaching methods, new pedagogical and information technologies, methods and means of self-education and individualization of education, distance education systems.</li> <li>Retraining and advanced training through distance learning methods are carried out in the form of online (video lectures, consultations, types of control</li> </ul>
09.01.2003	abilities in accordance with the curriculum technologies and the global information ne The procedure for organizing distance edu the Republic of Uzbekistan. <b>of Minister of higher and secondar</b> <b>Uzbekis</b> on the approval of the regulation on higher education on the approval of the regulation on the procedure for organizing and carrying out retraining and professional courses of management and pedagogical staff of	<ul> <li>at a distance using information and communication etwork Internet.</li> <li>acation is determined by the Cabinet of Ministers of <b>y special education of the Republic of</b></li> <li><b>y special education of the Republic of</b></li> <li><b>stan</b></li> <li>introduction into practice of interactive teaching methods, new pedagogical and information technologies, methods and means of self-education and individualization of education, distance education systems.</li> <li>Retraining and advanced training through distance learning methods are carried out in the form of online (video lectures, consultations, types of control in real time remotely) and offline (independent)</li> </ul>
09.01.2003	abilities in accordance with the curriculum technologies and the global information ne The procedure for organizing distance edu the Republic of Uzbekistan. of Minister of higher and secondar Uzbekiss on the approval of the regulation on higher education on the approval of the regulation on the procedure for organizing and carrying out retraining and professional courses of management and pedagogical staff of higher educational institutions through	an at a distance using information and communication etwork Internet. ucation is determined by the Cabinet of Ministers of <b>y special education of the Republic of</b> <b>stan</b> introduction into practice of interactive teaching methods, new pedagogical and information technologies, methods and means of self-education and individualization of education, distance

20.07.2004	on improving the activities of the	introduction and effective use in the educational
	ministry of higher and secondary	process of progressive forms of education, including
	special education of the Republic of	distance learning, new pedagogical and information
	Uzbekistan	and communication technologies.
26.09.2012	on measures to further improve the	develop and implement programs for advanced
	system of retraining and professional	training and retraining of teaching staff of
	development of pedagogical staff in	universities, considering innovative scientific
	higher educational institutions	achievements, promising development of
		technology, technologies that involve the use of
		modern pedagogical and ICT, distance learning
		methods, and the expansion of independent
		education.

Source: Adapted from National database of legislation of the Republic of Uzbekistan (www.lex.uz)

Karimov and Xikmatov (2018) believe that the current legal regulation on DE is not sufficient for the proper disclosure of the functions of e-learning and electronic educational technologies. They recommended several areas for enhancement such as legislative amendments to education, the control of licensing procedures by educational institutions through DE technologies, and the creation of legal norms on defining working hours of e-tutors. To sum up, there is a need for new legal norms to secure the usage of advanced electronic educational technologies for the effective implementation of DE in Uzbekistan.

#### 2.11. Challenges of Distance Education in Uzbekistan

By and large, the Internet network made difficulties in the introduction of communication between teachers and students effectively. According to the Speedtest Global Index (www.speedtest.net) in April 2020 Uzbekistan had Mobile Internet with a speed of 9.68 Mbps and Fixed Internet with a speed of 25.88 Mbps that which is much less than neighboring countries. It is worthwhile to state that the official website of the Ministry of Innovation reports the mobile telephony and digital TV access: 96% of the population have mobile connection and the vast majority of households have access to republican DTV broadcasting channels Connectivity is an issue in Uzbekistan, as around one-third of the population still do not have Internet access and nearly 50 percent live in rural areas (World Bank, 2018).



Figure 3. The Internet usage (% of the population) in Uzbekistan

Source: (data.worldbank.org, 2018)

It is interesting to note that the population of Uzbekistan is growing steadily year by year and the statistics indicate that the population of Uzbekistan is near 34 million in 2018. Figure 2 illustrates the percentage of the population who are using the Internet in Uzbekistan for the period of 2010 and 2016. In today's world, information and communication technology is one of the fastest increasing spheres. Information and communications technology (ICT) was a lack side of Uzbekistan for many years, but the last year Uzbekistan government gave national priority to the transformation of ICT gradually.

Song (2004) states "e-government can be simply defined as the use of ICTs in general and the utilization of the internet in particular to improve the efficiency, effectiveness, transparency, accountability, and the activities of public sector organizations". The statistics show that the Internet users in Uzbekistan remain low in contrast to other developed Asian countries. The principal reason for the limited access to the Internet in rural areas of Uzbekistan is the low speed of the Internet in given zones which rural areas consist of 60 percent of the population. The author touches upon that over the past five years it has increased considerably and is expected to grow. Besides the fact, that Uzbekistan's mobile market has difficulties evolving throughout the regions of Uzbekistan. According to the 2017- 2021 reform, the government opts to increase the speed and accessibility of the Internet in vast numbers. More significantly, no organization could survive without a set of operational systems in place, and as such an

organization, distance learning relies on a wide system variety for its smooth function and students' satisfaction (Keengwe and Onchwari, 2008).

Despite the formation of a modern integrated system of continuing education in Uzbekistan over the past period, the higher education system has not been able to fully adapt to the radical changes in the country's economy during the years of independence (Nigora and Ravshan, 2021). About teachers' knowledge of online platforms, it is a key problem in training teachers in new digital products and new infrastructure (Ferri et, al. 2020). It is arising difficulties for teachers in terms of the usage of distance learning technologies. Online education is divided into two parts: supplier and consumer, and there are problems on both sides. 90% of teaching is conducted in the state language, there is a huge lack of content. Students believe that having a good tutor is vitally important in helping them get the most out of a course and achieve a credit (Meacham and Evans, 1989). It is likely to state that there is a lack of specialists who can provide high-quality author content in the Uzbek language. It is to be expected that a tremendous amount of work will be done to localize existing content in the first place. Distance learning can only be successful in a system where the teachers are the specialists within a system (Casey, 2008).

## **3. METHODOLOGY**

The author would like to show the methodological framework of the paper in this chapter. Creswell (2003) explains methodology as a coherent group of methods that harmonize one another and that have the capability to fit to deliver data and findings that will reflect the research question and suits the researcher's purpose. The principal concentration of the chapter is to provide information on which method is used for gathering data regarding the barriers for a student based on distance learning in a given area. In general, this chapter provides information about the author's choices in terms of methodology. The figure 1 demonstrates and sums up the research onion of this methodology choices. I have opted to use a qualitative study with an inductive approach. Furthermore, interpretivism is chosen for the research assumption and the ground theory approach generates the gathering and analysis of the data. The process of case selection is pointed out. To be more precise, the Gioia methodology of data structure is deployed for this study. Therefore, it is described in the data analysis section.



Figure 4 The research onion

Source: (Saunders et al., 2016, p.164)

#### **3.1. Research philosophy**

Interpretivism has been selected for the philosophy of the research. It is worth noting that positivism and interpretivism generate the scope of research philosophies "Research philosophy is a framework that guides how research should be conducted based on ideas about reality and the nature of knowledge" (Collis and Hussey, 2014, p.43). It is evident from the fact that positivism provides genuinely objectivity but interpretivism tends to be on subjective notions. In interpretivism, "the reality is seen as highly subjective because it is shaped by our perceptions" (Collis and Hussey, 2014, p.45). The application of interpretivism lays emphasis on a solid understanding of the DE situation in Uzbekistan through investigating barriers for e-learners. Thus, it plays a key role in the comprehension of the study. Interpretivism assumption is used when a researcher opts to figure out a data with small size. Whereas positivism is the opposite of interpretivism which needs large-size research. "An interpretative philosophical approach which requires a large sample size finding rather than a positivism philosophical approach which could not satisfy the needs of social studies" (Collis and Hussey 2014, p.44).

#### **3.2. Research approach**

Qualitative and inductive approaches have been deployed for this research. "Qualitative research is based on three paradigms and the main paradigms within qualitative research are positivist, interpretivism, and critical paradigms" (Punch, 1998). It is indisputable fact that research may be concerned with quantitative or qualitative logic. There are three various logics that follow up qualitative which are deduction, induction, and abduction.

A deductive approach relates to "developing a hypothesis based on existing theory and then designing a research strategy to test the hypothesis" (Wilson, 2010, p.7). Thus, a deductive approach inclines on the base of the theory which the fundamental theory plays a significant role as the source for research. One of the important criteria of this approach is to minimize the risk that the study will prove to be a failure. Moreover, the deductive method involves testing the hypothesis of the Author, in view of the received circumstances and options for the responses from the survey. In other words, the deductive approach makes it possible to turn a general

concept of research into a more specific result, by the means of testing the hypothesis and determining one of the three possible outcomes proposed by the Author.

With regard to the inductive approach, Goddard and Melville (2004) explain that it starts with the observations, and theories are proposed towards the end of the research process as a result of observations. Figure 2 below provides the development process of inductive research.



#### Figure 2. Inductive research

Source: (Saunders et al., 2012)

While also a third logic of abduction may come into the usage when building the research iteratively from the deductive and inductive approaches (Eriksson and Kovalainen 2016, p.24). It is followed by an inductive approach as it starts from findings to theoretical results. It is pivotal to recall that data collection was implemented before the theory development. In an abductive approach, the research process starts with 'surprising facts' or 'puzzles', and the research process is devoted to their explanation (Bryman and Bell, 2015, p.27). Admittedly, this approach mostly gets critics due to the fact that there is unclarity on the proper way of choosing theory for testing.

#### 3.3. Research design

To begin with, Grounded Theory (GT) is "how the discovery of theory from data systematically obtained and analyzed in social research can be furthered" (Glaser and Strauss, 1967). However, However, Corbin and Strauss (1990), Charmaz (2006), and Gioia et al., (2013) also contributed to its development. Gioia et al., (2013) developed GT from the structured path and included the data structure for GT which is well-known with the Gioia methodology. The author chose the Gioia methodology for his research in order to formulate a general theory on the topic with help

of the Gioia data structure. The author explained the procedures of conducting the Gioia methodology in the data analysis section.

The purpose of this study is to analyse the challenges of distance education in higher education to identify the main problems of its development based on the Uzbekistan case and the research is based on empirical findings to provide a general theory. Thus, interpretivism and the inherent approaches of qualitative research and inductive analysis methods make the most appropriate approach for achieving the objectives of the research. It is pivotal to state "the systematization of the collection, coding and analysis of qualitative data for the generation of theory" (Glaser & Strauss, 1967).

Questionnaires can be termed both, quantitative and qualitative methods relying upon the idea of questions. Within the framework of this research, there is used a qualitative method in order to "analyse barriers to effective implementation of distance education in higher education institutions (HEIs)" which is a principal research question for this study. The aim of this questionnaire is to discover the most important and essential factors for barriers to distance learning by students. The author opted for the sub-research question "What factors do students limit to get high-quality distance education in HEI in the case of Uzbekistan?" and claimed to formulate empirical findings through conducting general theory building with help of GT based Gioia methodology. It is crucial that estimate the level of importance as well as to identify the highest limitations for students. During the following analysis, there are also will be presented basic information about the informants.

#### 3.4. Case selection

Uzbekistan plays a significant role in Central Asia as the population of the Republic is the largest in the region which is approximately 34 million people. Therefore, Uzbekistan is a relatively large player with its location and economy in Central Asia. However, the rapid development of Uzbekistan started in late 2016 when a new president was elected with the perspective of new reforms. The reforms are continuing in all aspects of the country. The reforms in education are not exceptional, and it is not the whole picture. There are other
justifications for the demand for the development of distance education in the country as well. It is evident from the fact the influx of Covid-19 provided a need for an online educational process considerably. Slow development of the ICT sector and network infrastructure after the getting the Independence created challenges for students in Uzbekistan. The number of Universities and Institutes has increased drastically and the vast majority of them are conducted conventional class education. The case study approach will help the proposed fact

Educational services need to be evolved in all sectors of the education system in Uzbekistan. According to the article "How online learning will change in Uzbekistan after quarantine", the report said that "only 9 percent of applicants entered higher education institutions in 2017. As a result, approximately 27,000 students left to study at foreign educational institutions.". There are a number of issues in the education system that has yet to be resolved, particularly in secondary special and higher education. The demand for educational services is enormous. This is because educational institutions with a growing population have limited capital and teaching resources. Besides the fact that the main universities are concentrated in Tashkent, citizens from remote regions rarely have the opportunity to study there. Another factor that is vitally important to consider is foreign universities in Uzbekistan. As they offer modern courses and programs that are too expensive for citizens to pursue in Uzbekistan. In the modern world, the capabilities of ICT in education, such as e-learning and distant education, have been widely used and are still being used to overcome such challenges. Therefore, the role of ICT, the description of HEIs in the country, and issues for DE are touched upon in the case study approach in the case of Uzbekistan.

#### **3.5. Data collection method**

Data collection methods are important because how the information collected is used and what explanations it can generate are determined by the methodology and analytical approach applied by the researcher (Wright S, O'Brien BC, Nimmon L, Law M, Mylopoulos, 2016). The principal goal of the questionnaire is to acquire valuable data on what specific problems and limitations were raised for students in a given area. The majority of the questions relate to analysing how provided factors in terms of potential issues and barriers are comprehensible to touch upon in order to get information about students' scopes. Moreover, also worthy to state

that questionnaire is made by inclining on current government issues. According to the official website of distance education of Uzbekistan (www.dist.edu.uz), there is a total of 417816 students who are studying in HEIs which are divided into 14 regions. The website illustrates that 112 Universities and Institutions are provided with distance learning platforms. However, the author would like to conduct a semi-structured interview with students who experienced the acquisition of knowledge through DE during the period of the Covid-19 pandemic. As the sudden situation was the general deployment of DE in HEIs and nowadays the vast number of students studying traditional methods of education due to the partial cessation of the pandemic. The questionnaire consists of 15 questions (Appendix 1) and 19 students (Appendix 2) were taken part. The interview was mainly applied through Telegram and the use of this App is highly utilized in Uzbekistan. However, the majority of respondents were generated by Uzbek University Telegram channels, and they are current students and already graduated. To take into account data collection principles, it is important to describe the process of the interview because it consists of the primary fundamental source of information for the research. Adams (2015) categorizes practical steps for conducting semi-structured interviews which include selecting and recruiting the respondents, drafting the questions and interview guide, techniques for this type of interviewing, and analysing the information gathered. Gioia et al., (2014) clarify that a semi-structured interview is used to reach both retrospective and current observations of the interviewee on the phenomenon.

### 3.6. Data analysis via Gioia-method

Gioia et al., (2013) methodology consist of first-order categories, second-order themes and lastly aggregate dimensions. Figure 4 below demonstrates the data structure of the Gioia methodology with its illustrative connections with each section. The use of the Gioia method is worthwhile to correspond to a qualitative and inductive approach. " A holistic approach to inductive concept development that also meets the standards for rigor" (Gioia et al. 2012, 1). The author sums up general quotations from participants in a paper and then the 1<sup>st</sup> order category is connected to the quotations. The general understanding of quotations is formed to figure out the 1<sup>st</sup> level category which leads to the 2<sup>nd</sup> order method. Finally, "the researcher reasons the aggregate dimension describing what is all about" (Gioia et al. 2012, p.6). The author opted Gioia method since e-learners are capable of expressing themselves and their

experiences. Besides, this method opens up the informant's voice which comes up with new notions. The author spent lots of his time reading transcripts of interviews to provide the initial codes for the research which raises the credibility of the study as well.

Moreover, it is not the whole picture to mention as axial coding is similar to Second-order analysis due to the fact that the initial codes from empirical finding are classified as similarities and differences which is merged with similar categories. Thus, it serves for the reduction of coding categories. "The second-order analysis provides theoretical perception in nature, it is analyzed if the emerging concepts explain the phenomena under observation" (Gioia et al., 2013). In connection with aggregate dimensions, it is merged with Second themes relatively.

The author attempted to translate the quotes from Uzbek into the English language to embed the logic of the concept significantly. "When we have the full set of 1st-order terms and 2nd-order themes and aggregate dimensions, then we have the basis for building a data structure" (Gioia et, al., 2013). Therefore, Figure 4 presents the sample data structure of the Gioia method to have an overview of the research process.



Figure 5.. Sample of data structure

Source: (Gioia et al. 2013)

# **4. INTERVIEW RESULTS**

This chapter presents the main findings and outcomes of this study based on semi-structured interviews and observations. The semi-structured interview was conducted with students in Uzbekistan to list barriers to DE that they have experienced. To analyze students' concerns on DE, the author divided the set of questions into three-parts which are namely demographic findings, students' experience and attitude toward distance learning, and lastly exploring the barriers to distance education for Uzbek students in HEIs. Finally, the empirically grounded theoretical framework on barriers to distance education is presented and discussed with help of Gioia data structure.

## 4.1. Demographic findings

Both local and public universities or institutions were addressed in Uzbekistan. There are two private universities and 8 public universities and institutes namely Inha University in Tashkent and Webster University in Tashkent, University of World Economy and Diplomacy, Uzbek State University of World Languages, Ferghana Polytechnic Institute, Fergana State University, Tashkent University of Information Technology, Tashkent State Institute of Oriental Studies, Tashkent Institute of Finance, Tashkent Institute of Architecture and Civil Engineering. The students, who are studying for bachelor's degrees, were interviewed for this research and a total of 19 students participated in the semi-structured interview. Overall, 6 female and 13 male students participated in this research.

## 4.2. Students' experiences and attitudes toward distance learning

Regarding the first question, the author asked about their experience with shifting to distance learning and students' first reaction to a sudden move to distance learning in their HEIs. To be more precise, the sudden global spread of a new strain of the Covid-19 has once again drawn the attention of the world community to the possibilities of distance learning. All educational institutions in Uzbekistan and abroad have transferred students to distance learning. These measures allowed not only to reduce the spread of coronavirus but also to preserve the

educational process. The rapid transition to distance learning affected all participants in the educational process. Firstly, the entire faculty of the university is forced to work with students online. Private universities have already been prepared for online learning before the start of the pandemic, as they were using distance learning technologies. A student at Webster University in Tashkent reflected that 'We switched to distance learning on March 16. In principle, nothing much has changed for us, because we have always worked on the World Classroom platform. In normal times, teachers uploaded assignments to this platform, and we sent those that were already completed. 'To highlight, another respondent from the University of World Economy and Diplomacy (UWED) said in the first reaction to the letter question as follows: 'after the detection of the coronavirus, we were told that the study would be remote. Graduate students started studying online a week and a half to two weeks after the start of quarantine. Junior students were a little earlier. We study on the moodle platform. For lectures, we also occasionally used Zoom. 'A student of Tashkent Institute of Finance cited that 'When online learning first started, some assignments that we had to hand in any way were already uploaded to the platform. The rest has already been uploaded.' A student at the Uzbek State University of World Languages (UzGUWL) said that 'Distance learning began around March 25th. At first, we used Telegram, then we partially switched to the moodle platform. We are given a dry educational and methodical complex so that we digest it ourselves and then pass our homework and tests.' To some extent, other participants had similar observations at the beginning stage of DE at their HEIs. They emphasized Telegram application that it played a crucial role in both communications with tutors and the use of educational resources from its channels relatively.

Concerning the question, which analyses students' notions and preferences in terms of distance learning or conventional learning. The quotes from students confirm that there are pivotal issues in DE. Albeit the majority of students preferred offline education rather than distance learning due to their perception in terms of having the opportunity for practical studies, live communication, etc. It is worthwhile to mention that DE cannot provide practical studies for some specific faculties. A Student of Fergana State University commented as follows: 'Offline education is comfortable for me because I can contact my fellow students face to face and it is easier to ask questions from each other about what you do not know about a particular subject. Most students are in favor of acquiring traditional classes. Since they believe that it is simpler

to comprehend topics than DE. A student of Ferghana Polytechnic Institute expressed his dissatisfaction to DE: '... I understood that I prefer offline education as I was not satisfied with distance learning from my university'. Another student at Tashkent Institute of Architecture and Civil Engineering provided a similar comment: 'I prefer traditional education since we can work on my studies a lot and a teacher can explain a topic considerably. I experienced distance education and it is hard to understand subjects virtually'. However, some students supported DE that they figured out the number of advantages in their DE period like multitasking opportunities and saving time for other special subjects. A student at Tashkent State Institute of Oriental Studies said 'I prefer distance education because I can focus on specific subjects a lot rather than unnecessary subjects. Traditional education wastes my time with unnecessary subjects conducted in both online and offline education, but I felt more freedom in studying my specific subjects in online education than in offline education.' A student of Tashkent Institute of Finance commented the following quote on the advantages of DE: '...it is convenient for me to work and study at the same time.' A student at Webster University said on preference regarding distance and traditional education: 'Some subjects are difficult to complete online. For example, I am studying Media Communication. We have a photography class where we take a camera, take pictures, and edit. Not everyone has a camera. Therefore it is difficult. There is still not enough academic atmosphere among the university, and teachers. This is an American university. At home, of course, it is also comfortable, but the situation at the university is different.' Overall, two-thirds of participants disclosed that they prefer contacting other students and teachers.

It is interesting to note that several participants found advantages in studying DE. The best example that springs to the author's mind is the quote of a student from Inha University in Tashkent 'I'm more for distance education than not. I have the opportunity to independently distribute my time and study in my daily routine. In addition, the assimilation of the material is much easier and more interesting when I find answers to questions. One participant from the University of World Economy and Diplomacy (UWED) cited that 'I think online education has its advantages. It can save you some time. But at the lectures, although we were not particularly interested, we could hear something out of the corner of our ear, at least perceive something for ourselves.' The number of students who prefer traditional class education outwaited distance education supporters.

# **4.3.** Exploring the barriers to distance education for Uzbek students in Higher Education Systems

#### Theme 1 – Tutorial issues:

Concerning the question about the quality of online teaching practices, most students confirmed that they had various issues with the tutorial aspect and the way how it was performed by teachers. A student at Fergana State University disclosed that 'We have nothing without writing. We even wrote some control notes in notebooks, then photographed them and sent them to the *teacher*'. It is visible that a teacher was satisfied with photographed control works in order to make it a completed task for a student. Generally, the organization of conducting lectures should be taken into consideration as there are issues with checking a student's home tasks in HEIs. A student at the University of World Economy and Diplomacy voiced that 'I am sure that students do not even look at these materials, but just look at the questions, try to find answers on the Internet, pass faster and move on to other subjects. Because there are several deadlines per day.' A student of Fergana State University asserted understanding for teachers: 'We send completed tasks via telegram or upload them to moodle. We are comfortable. It's just hard for some teachers. Sometimes teachers wrote to us late in the evening, and I understood that their schedules has shifted a lot. I felt a little sorry for them'. Several students experienced overloaded tasks from their teachers. For instance, a student at Tashkent Institute of Finance said 'Lacks at least some lectures. Right now we are just being loaded with a lot of tasks. Teachers also do not have much time and desire to do this. They just download all the materials. Students can have 10 such subjects. 'A Student of Uzbek State University of World Languages commented the following: 'Online learning could continue. But only with a teacher who understands online education and can develop a normal curriculum for a convenient online platform.' According to most students, teachers were not prepared for distance education as teachers wasted time figuring out how to solve educational platform issues. A Student at Webster University cited: 'Friends from national universities say that teachers skip classes, they use Telegram to study, and they are forced to write notes. Therefore, I think that Uzbekistan is not yet ready for online learning."

Difficulty in perceiving methodological recommendations, written recommendations, remarks, and methodological instructions were unclear to most students in the process of distance learning. A student at the University of World Economy and Diplomacy stated that 'I could

not understand some online presentations which were provided by a teacher.' And among students, this circumstance caused a remark in favor of the traditional education format. Several students claimed that 'During a personal meeting, you can evaluate the presentation of information thanks to intonation and facial expressions. Immediately clarify the nuances, do not expect an answer for a long time, erroneously interpret it as a task or an answer. 'Students often pointed to a long time waiting for a response or verification of work from a teacher. Half of the students face the problem of adaptation due to the low degree of interactivity with the teacher during the period of distance learning. V A student at Uzbek State University of World Languages cited that 'In traditional learning, the number of tasks seems to be moderate. Even though seminars were held every day, the preparation for them was not as intense as it is now. Often, teachers evaluate a student by how the student presents the material, and not by its informativeness. In online learning, you have to devote more time to searching and analyzing information to turn in a decent job, because everything is handed over in writing and checked for plagiarism.' Two-thirds of students pointed out that a writing task is a key component for delivering online tasks. For example, a student at Tashkent State Institute of Oriental Studies cited 'Lectures were held only on one subject. The rest was in writing.' Several students claimed that they had issues with contacting their teacher. For instance, a student at Tashkent University of Information Technology stated inconvenience concerning contacting a teacher online: 'Academic supervisors can be contacted online. Younger executives use Telegram. With my manager, I can write off mainly through the mail. And each time calling him to look is also inconvenient. We could ask them our short questions after classes or during breaks and get good advice at the university.

#### Theme 2 - Internet access challenges:

It is worthwhile to recall that most rural areas have issues with an Internet connection and some parts of big cities have issues with the speed of the Internet. That's why all the interviewees agreed that there is an issue with Internet speed and coverage. A student from Ferghana Polytechnic Institute (FarPI) said as follows: *I have issues with the Internet connection due to low signal in my rural area. Admittedly, lack of Internet access was a crucial barrier to my distance education process. As I was obliged to move to my hometown as I was studying for my bachelor's degree in Tashkent. Moreover, some participants commented that they did not have issues with the coverage of the Internet but there were lagging issues and speed of the* 

Internet. Another student from Tashkent Institute of Architecture and Civil Engineering added that '*it is annoying when I wait for uploading a document on Moodle platform or reading educational material due to the slow speed of the Internet.*' Most students confirmed that some universities had to decrease the number of video lectures due to the issues with the Internet. A student of UWED stated that *there is only one subject where you need to write notes. In general, by the third year, this is almost not observed. We do not provide video lessons in subjects due to the lack of good Internet speed for many students.* It is a key point that a large portion of students was experiencing a poor Internet connection. Students, who live or study in a city, were getting a medium and high-quality Internet connection for distance education. A student at Tashkent University of Information Technology said 'One of the main reasons is the lack of normal Internet speed (mainly in the regions). The current situation should become an impetus not only for the modernization of education but also for our telecommunications system as a whole.'

#### Theme 3 – e-Content issues:

Concerning e-content issues, students had various problems such as fully understanding of study materials, a lack of interactive activities, and incorrectly formatted teaching materials. A student at Tashkent State Institute of Oriental Studies said that '*the difficulty is mainly in the assimilation of online materials. They are difficult to understand without explanations from the teacher*'. She added that students were obliged to turn to online sources like Google to get the essence of information relatively.

According to study material in the Uzbek language, most of the students stated that the majority of online teaching materials are Russian and English language. Besides the fact that active translation of electronic books, dictionaries, and applications is taking place nowadays. There are still issues for students who do not know Russian or English language. A student of Ferghana Polytechnic Institute commented the following: '*I study bachelor's degree in the sphere of construction, and it is fully conducted in the Uzbek language. Sometimes, I have been given Russian-supported study materials for which I do not know the language. I had to ask a teacher for assistance with translation'. It is evident from the fact that the Russian language is widely used in Uzbekistan and most Uzbeks are capable of speaking both languages. Therefore, several students claimed that they are comfortable with mixed Uzbek and Russian online resources. Overall, it hinders students who comprehend only the Uzbek language and affects DE effectiveness.* 

#### Theme 4 - Poor managing online classes by teachers:

Regarding the issues encountered by the students, the interviewees assumed poor teacher's experience in terms of managing online classes. A student of the University of World Economy and Diplomacy cited that 'I remember that it was boring online educational environment due to the repetitive routine of online classes.' A student of Ferghana Polytechnic Institute lamented: 'Teachers could provide various videos on a topic or creative way of conducting the online class. Unfortunately, most online lectures were theory-based presentations in PowerPoint'. Two-thirds of students voiced about lack of confidence in delivering the course. Moreover, the atmosphere of distance learning differed profoundly from the conventional classroom environment as students were not participating actively in group discussions. A student at Tashkent Institute of Architecture and Civil Engineering cited that: '...at the beginning of a lecture, a teacher delivered some tasks and explained instruction to us actively. Then, he interrupted the lecture for the next session. 'It was visible that the principal problem at this point is the lack of experience in delivering high-quality online lectures. Additionally, the problem is that in such a process, students have to read all the material independently. It, therefore, requires willpower, responsibility, and self-control. However, when taught remotely, there is no direct communication between teacher and student. Therefore, a student who is constantly studying in such a system may find it difficult to express his opinion freely among the majority. Inadequate internet speeds in remote areas and insufficient internet use skills of some students hamper the effectiveness of such an educational process.

#### Theme 5 – Technical issues:

By and large, students asserted several problems with technical aspects. A student at Fergana State University said technical issues: 'It happens that the platform hangs when all the students enter. Or tasks are loaded twice, and we do not understand what is happening. Or, for example, when we solve tests, you enter the correct answer "2" and the correct answer is not the number "2" but the word "two". Little things like this are annoying'. Students noted that this e-learning system requires many improvements, it is still far from ideal, and it is not comfortable to use. The disadvantages were the lack of the ability to download a large volume and a discreet interface. Students indicated in their answers the use of non-specialized systems such as e-mail, the social network Telegram, Skype, instant messengers, calls, and SMS messages. But opinions about each of them were divided. Speaking about the attitude towards specialized systems, universities provided Moodle system but it was badly managed by both their

universities. They mostly use non-specialized ones: Telegram, Microsoft Teams, Zoom, Google Classroom, and WhatsApp. The priority remained Telegram, email, WhatsApp, and Zoom. A student of Ferghana Polytechnic Institute quoted *'We used mainly Telegram for communication with my fellow students and teachers.'* Specialized e-learning software systems make it possible to systematize and simplify the presentation of material, create online tests with automatic verification, and install an electronic assessment system. Not only facilitates the student's learning, but also provides him with more freedom. But there are also engineering students. Here we have a really hard time, we need to master computer graphics, but many do not have computers.

#### Theme 6 – Students' inattentive behavior:

For the final question, the author asked the participants about the readiness of Uzbekistan for distance education. Some students agreed that Uzbekistan is not yet ready for distance education because of the above-mentioned barriers. A Student at Webster University in Tashkent stated about the state of DE in Uzbekistan: 'Friends from national universities say that teachers skip classes, they use Telegram to study, they are forced to write notes. Therefore, I think that Uzbekistan is not yet ready for online learning.' A student of University of World Economy and Diplomacy quoted 'In my opinion, the first steps have already been taken for the development of DE. Maybe in 5-10 years, but not now.' Lack of contact with the teacher daily or weekly causes a weakening of motivation for learning, and students begin to study on their own according to students. Among the advantages of actual learning, a student of the University of World Economy and Diplomacy singled out the opportunity '...no one is watching you, you can easily go online and find the information you need, which greatly demotivates you to prepare for exams. Therefore, I have a conflicting attitude towards this.' Students are adapting to distance learning, of course, not without problems. The performance of some students falls, which depends on their desire to work independently. The lack of social contact makes itself a concern for e-learners, some students simply cannot understand what the teacher requires from them. It is difficult for half of the students to master the material without additional explanation. During distance learning, most of the students began to devote less time to study, due to the lack of desire, for a direct connection with the university, which indicates that some students cannot adapt to the virtual way of learning. Among the proposals, students put forward wishes to provide the necessary equipment for the hostel and stable access to the Internet. A student from Fergana State University cited Based on my fellow students' experience, I can say

*that distance learning is not suitable for everyone.* Students mentioned that they have experienced difficulties keeping their attention on both physical and digital aspects. A student of the University of World Economy and Diplomacy uttered his concerns: '...*it is hard to stay focused when watching video tutorials.*'

#### Theme 7 – Scarcity of e-devices:

The author asked about students' technological devices from participants. Two-thirds of students confirmed that they used mainly smartphones for distance education classes. Furthermore, several students stated that they possess laptops or computers which helped them to carry out online tasks successfully. However, some students asserted that the lack of technological devices among students provided issues for DE. It is reasonable to note that having smartphones is not a sufficient tool for an effective DE process. A student of Ferghana Polytechnic Institute added: 'But there are also engineering students. Here we have a really hard time, we need to master computer graphics, but many do not have computers.' It is indisputable fact that laptops or computers play a crucial role in completing online tasks successfully. A student of Tashkent Institute of Finance said that '... I did not have a computer and come up with obstacles in writing my research tasks'. Another student of Inha University in Tashkent quoted 'I used my smartphone for distance education classes. I did not have issues with watching online videos or reading educational materials. However, I could not maintain writing my home tasks on time during the pandemic. 'Several students explained their situation with a lack of e-devices and how they overcome this challenge. Some students asked their friends, who have a computer, for help. Some stated that they addressed Internet café for uploading a document or writing home tasks.

#### **Theme 8 – Electricity:**

The minority of students recalled the inadequacy of electricity. A student of Tashkent State Institute of Oriental Studies students complained about frequent interruptions on electricity '*It* seems to me that Uzbekistan is not yet ready for distance education. And I say this while in Tashkent. I have no problems with the network. But sometimes there are interruptions. In the regions, someone generally has no electricity for two days. Without even talking about it, it's just that the distance learning system itself, it seems to me, has not been worked out at all.' Another student of Tashkent State Institute of Oriental Studies claimed his disappointment with poor electricity: 'I am fed up with sudden interruptions with electricity. I lived in a rural area, and it is a well-known issue in Uzbekistan which is mainly in rural areas of the Republic.' Most students touched upon the issue of frequent electricity shortages in rural areas and agreed that this issue is likely to be a barrier to implementing DE. In addition, students, who study in Tashkent, were familiar with issues on electricity in villages but they asserted that there were not any issues with electricity.

#### Theme 9 - Cultural norms on student's life circumstances:

The students felt difficulties to cope with cultural challenges. Especially, cultural norms impacted female students as Uzbek girls are mainly in charge of household work and get married at an early age. A student at Uzbek State University of World Languages lamented about cultural norms which provided difficulties for effective acquisition of online knowledge from her Institution: 'I usually have lots of housework, therefore, I did not have enough time to study online subjects fully. I prefer the traditional type of education that provides me with specific time to concentrate on my studies. Another female student at Uzbek State University of World Languages said similar issues with DE: 'My family did not respect my studies through distance learning, and they did not provide me sufficient time to study. They said it was better to look after my child in this phenomenon'. To cope with this cultural issue, female students studied for a limited time and mainly used smartphones for online educational classes. Thus, they anticipated to switching conventional education.

#### Theme 10 - Insufficient conducive learning environment while studying at home:

Several students uttered their concerns about the lack of cooperation from their families while studying DE at home. They faced challenges due to the noise in their homes and disruptions from their families. A student at Uzbek State University of World Languages quoted on the theme of lack of concentration: 'I felt myself uncomfortably during the online class because I have a big family and it was hard to find a quiet place'. A student at the Tashkent Institute of Economics commented 'During the distance learning period, one of the main issues was my parents. Sometimes, they were asking me to look after my little brother instead of watching an educational video'. Unfortunately to the author's concern, those online classes were disrupted by their families. To some extent, some said that some families were not supportive when it comes to education. However, it was also highlighted that most students were supported by their families in implementing effective distance learning. For example, a student of Fergana State University uttered 'I explained the situation to my family. They were happy that they can monitor my studies.' A student of Tashkent State Institute of Oriental Studies expressed the

following position: 'The parents were very afraid of the coronavirus and forbade them to leave the house which is in a rural area but there is no Internet at home.'



Figure 3. Data structure of the coding for barriers in distance education

Source: Framework adapted from

Figure 2 demonstrates the data structure of barriers that students encountered during the period of distance learning. Ten second-order themes have been generated from the interview observations. The author touches upon each second-order theme as it bases the grounded theory approach on the Gioia data analyzed. The author coded the quotations form participants the data through Gioia methodology (Appendix 3).

According to tutorial issues, it is interestingly the most cited and mentioned theme. The theme of internet access issues was added to the case approach study and participants recalled internet connectivity. Concerning the e-content theme, the author assumed the emergence of this scope after the analysis of DE in Uzbekistan. Poor managing online classes emerged in the data after careful coding of interview results such as repetitive routine, poor experience, and so on. Students' inattentive behavior came up with a lack of focus, interest, motivation, etc. Students mentioned a lack of e-devices and frequent interruptions on electricity. The effect of cultural norms in Uzbek families created mainly obstacles for female students. Eventually, the theme of an insufficient conducive learning environment while studying at home was identified as a challenge for students in Uzbekistan.

These ten second-order themes, namely, tutorial issues, Internet access, e-content, poor managing online classes, technical issues, electricity, cultural norms on student's life circumstances, and lastly insufficient conducive learning environment while studying at home. All of the mentioned themes contributed to aggregate dimension barriers in DE.

# **5. DISCUSSION**

The chapter provides an analysis of the data from interview results and the theoretical part. The principal objective of the paper is to analyse the challenges of distance education in higher education to identify the main problems of its development based on the Uzbekistan case.

According to the interview findings, tutorial issues are a major challenge for students to get high-quality distance education in Uzbekistan. It involved the following factors: most parts of online classes involve writing, insufficient time for students, poor curriculum development, skipping classes, repetitive routine, principal theory-based presentations, lack of experience with delivering online classes, and longtime waiting for a response from Telegram. Two-thirds of students noted that online lectures were lacking variety and interest. The data opposes the theory that Universities are required a high level of planning, management control, and excellent communication if they want to be successful in DE (Schlosser,1994). Unfortunately, most students were unsatisfied with their universities due to the fact that high-quality distance education was not delivered successfully. Moreover, the knowledge of teachers was unsatisfactory in terms of conducting online classes and they felt less responsibility than in the traditional class environment.

Concerning Internet access issues, it was figured out as one of the principal challenges for students in Uzbekistan. This issue included the following factors: difficulties with uploading a document in online educational technologies, frequent lags on websites and online educational platforms, and slow internet speeds in rural areas. The data supports the theory that Niebuhr et, al. (2014), Dyrbye et, al. (2009), and Attardi and Rogers (2015) introduced a number of several issues with online classes, including problems with poor internet infrastructure in their theory. The speed of the Internet emphasizes the quality of DE in vast numbers. Therefore, most students will be demotivated for DE if robust internet connectivity is not guaranteed.

Regarding e-content issues, it involves such factors as difficulties with the assimilation of digital educational materials and limited availability of Uzbek educational resources. Ajay (2012) included the importance of study materials in his studies that emphasize the significance of this factor for e-learners. To the author's concern, it is a serious issue not only for e-learners

but also for conventional learners. The literature found that the major concentrations should be taken into the creation of educational content and the organization of its open usage virtually for DE (Hiltz and Turoff, 2005; Sife et al., 2007).

The issue of poor managing online classes included repetitive routine, poor delivering online classes, lack of experience and creativity in conducting an online class, and theory-based presentations. The data support the Gillet-Swan (2017) theory that a student might have several issues like inability or difficulty in peer interaction, particularly in presentations. The importance of delivering presentations virtually is comprehensible and complex theorized content via presentation provided difficulties for students in accordance with the results data.

The Technical issues include poor platform development and incorrectly online formatted tests with regard to the interview results. Students came across multiple system errors during the online classes. Therefore, they basically relied on Telegram channels to overcome these issues. Literature found that technical barriers are a key segment of DE for tackling in order to acquire high-quality online classes. For example, Tsai et, al. 2020 included technical barriers in their research following up on personal, logistical, social interaction, and financial barriers.

Students' inattentive behavior included lack of motivation, concentration, no trust, lack of contact with a teacher, conflicting attitude, difficulties with keeping attention, and no interest in video tutorials. Galusha (1998) provided several categories for both problems and barriers respectively. For example, the data supports the theory of Galusha (1998) on lack of experience and training, feedback and teacher contact, etc.

In terms of the scarcity of e-devices, the study found a lack of laptops or computers among students for writing a research task or home task. Compared with the literature review, Berge and Muilenberg (2000) coined out a lack of technology-enhanced classrooms, devices, or infrastructure as barrier for DE. The issue with the shortage of electricity took place mostly in rural areas and sometimes urban areas following the data. Some students explained their experiences how they overcome these obstacles.

Insufficient conducive learning environment while studying at home including factors like poor attendance due to lots of housework responsibilities for female students and disrespect for the

54

online educational process from a female's family. Literature found that MacKeracher et al., (2006) added a general lack of support services at times and places suitable to adult learners.

Cultural norms on students' life circumstances are feeling uncomfortable due to family, the need for a quiet place, and no support from family. The data support the theory in which Deggs (2011) included an issue that affects adult learners' life circumstances as a barrier.

The author classifies distance education barriers inclining on the interview results to answer the research question of the paper. Situational, dispositional, epistemological, and technical barriers are figured out in the data in terms of Rezabek (1999); Garland (1993); Schilke (2001). To be more precise, Table 1 shows the data which is categorized into five categories as the following barriers:

Table 7. Descri	ption of	DE barrier	s by i	interview	results
	puon or		5091		results

Barriers	Interview results' issues	
Situational	insufficient conducive learning environment while studying at home; cultural norms on student's life circumstances	
Institutional	electricity	
Epistemological	e-content; poor management of online classes; tutorial issues	
Dispositional	students' inattentive behaviour	
Technical	e-devices; internet access issues, technical issues	

Source: Adapted from (Rezabek, 1999; Garland, 1993; Schilke, 2001)

# **6. CONCLUSION**

Both in the literature and the data collected for this study, the author found several barriers regarding distance education in the case of Uzbekistan. To conclude, situational barriers (such as insufficient conducive learning environment while studying at home and cultural norms on student's life circumstances), the institutional barrier (such as the inadequacy of electricity), epistemological barriers (such as e-content, poor management of online classes and tutorial issues) and technical barriers (e-devices, internet access issues, and technical issues) are affected to the effective implementation of DE in HEIs. The analysis of HEIs in the case of Uzbekistan showed that there was a reduction in the number of students in past years due to a limited number of admissions, the cease of part-time and evening education, expensive tuition fees, etc. A policy analysis of Uzbekistan on ICT depicted the need for new legal norms to secure the usage of advanced electronic educational technologies for the effective implementation of DE in Uzbekistan. Moreover, the Internet network made it difficult the introduction of communicate between teachers and students effectively.

By and large, the case study showed the challenges faced in HEIs of Uzbekistan during the period of the pandemic and post-pandemic. If the above-mentioned barriers are tackled, the state of distance education in HEIs will develop in Uzbekistan. It will result in an increased number of students having a chance to get higher qualifications.

# LIST OF REFERENCES

- Almobarraz, A. (2008). Users' perception of internet characteristics in the academic environment. *Proceedings of the American Society for Information Science and Technology*, doi:10.1002/meet.2008.1450450205
- Ajay, K. A. (2012). Distance Education: Problems and Solutions, *International Journal of Behavioural Social and Movement Sciences*, vol.1, ISSN: 2277-7547
   Retrieved from: http://ijobsms.in/issue4,vol1,p7%20attri.pdf (Accessed: 12.03.22)
- Attardi, S. M., & Rogers, K. A. (2015). Design and implementation of an online systemic human anatomy course with a laboratory. *Anatomical sciences education*, 8(1), 53-62.
- Babbie, E. R. (2010) "The Practice of Social Research" Cengage Learning, p.52
- Baregheh, A., Rowley, J. and Sambrook, S., (2009). Towards a multidisciplinary definition of innovation. *Management Decision*, 47(8), pp.1323-1339.
- Bates, A. W., and Bates, T. (2005). Technology, e-learning, and distance education. Psychology Press.
- Baughman, A. K., Gao, J., Pan, J. & Petrushin, V. A. (2015), *Multimedia Data Mining and Analytics, Disruptive Innovation*, Springer International Publishing Switzerland, Switzerland.
- Bediang G, Stoll B, Geissbuhler A, et al. (2013). Computer literacy and e-learning perception in Cameroon: the case of Yaounde Faculty of Medicine and Biomedical Sciences. BMC Med Edu 2013; 13:1–8.
- Berge, Z.L., & Muilenburg, L. (2000). Barriers to distance education as perceived by managers and administrators: Results of a survey.
- Berge, Z. (1998). Barriers to online teaching in post-secondary institutions: Can policy changes fix it? *Online Journal of Distance LearningAdministration*, 1(2). http://www.westga.edu/~distance/Berge12.html.
- Bledow, R., Frese, M., Anderson, N., Erez, M. and Farr, J., (2009). A Dialectic Perspective on Innovation: Conflicting Demands, Multiple Pathways, and Ambidexterity.
- Blissett AM. (2016). Blended learning versus traditional lecture in introductory nursing pathophysiology courses. J Nurs Educ; v55: 227–30.
- Boelens, R., Van Laer, S., De Wever, B. and Elen, J., (2015). Blended learning in adult education: towards a definition of blended learning.

- Boyles, P. C. (2011). Maximizing learning using online student assessment. Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration, 14(3). Retrieved from <u>http://www.westga.edu/~distance/ojdla</u> (Accessed: 07.03.22)
- Bryman A. & Bell, E. (2015) "Business Research Methods" 4th edition, Oxford University Press, p.27
- Casey, D. (2008). A journey to legitimacy: The historical development of distance education through technology. Tech trends, 52(2), 45-51
- Claus, E. (2005). Quality in distance education: A preliminary review of the literature. In L. M. Morris and F. M. Nafukho (Eds.), *Proceedings of the 2005 Human Resource Development International Conference* (426-433). Bowling Green, OH: AHRD.
- Collis, J. and Hussey, R. (2014). Business research. 4th ed. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Creswell, J. W. (2003). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed-method approaches. London: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Cross, K.P. (1981). Adults as Learners. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Damanpour, F. (1991) Organizational Innovation: A Meta-Analysis of Effects of Determinants and Moderators. Academy of Management Journal, 34, 555-590. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/256406
- Decree of the president of the Republic of Uzbekistan Sh. M. Mirziyoyev dated May 8, 2018 PD No.-5438. Retrieved from https://www.lex.uz/acts/-3727063 (Accessed: 16.04.2021)
- Decree of the president of the Republic of Uzbekistan, the 228th pronouncement of the Cabinet of Ministers of the Republic of Uzbekistan: Development of higher education of Uzbekistan, 25 July 2012.
- Decree of the president of the Republic of Uzbekistan, Program of integrated development of higher education in 2017-2021 Retrieved from https://lex.uz/docs/3171587 (Accedded: 16.04.2021)
- Deggs, D. (2011). Contextualizing the perceived barriers of adult learners in an accelerated undergraduate degree program. The Qualitative Report, 16(6), 1540–1553. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR
- Derek Stockley. (2003). E-learning definition and explanation (E-learning, online training, online learning). *HEFCE e-learning Strategy*. March 2005 p.5.
- Dyrbye L, Cumyn A, Day H. (2009). A qualitative study of physicians' experiences with online learning in a master's degree program: benefits, challenges, and proposed solutions. Med Teach 2009; 31:40–6.

- Edge, WD, Loegering, JP (2000). Distance education: Expanding learning opportunities, *Wildlife Society Bulletin*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 522-533.
- Eriksson, Päivi, and Anne Kovalainen, (2006). Qualitative Methods in Business Research. Los Angeles: SAGE
- Evans, N. D. (2003), Business Innovation and Disruptive Technology, Harnessing the Power of Breakthrough Technology...for Competitive Advantage. *Financial Times Prentice Hall*, New Jersey, United States of America.
- Fielt E, (2013), Journal of Business Model: Conceptualising Business Models: Definitions, Frameworks and Classifications, Vol. 1, No. 1 pp. 85-105
- Flavin, M. (2017), Disruptive Technology Enhanced Learning, The Use and Misuse of Digital Technologies In Higher Education, King's College London, London, United Kingdom.
- Galusha, J. M. (1998). Barriers to Learning in Distance Education.
- Galusha, J.M. (1997). Barriers to Learning in Distance Education. *Interpersonal Computing and Technology Journal*, 5(3), 6-14. Retrieved May 9, 2022 from https://www.learntechlib.org/p/85240/.
- Garland, M. (1993). Student perceptions of the situational, institutional, dispositional and epistemological barriers to persistence. distance education 14 (2): 181–98 (1) (PDF) Barriers to Distance Education: A Factor-Analytic Study.
- Gellman-Danley, B., & Fetzner, M. (1998). Askingthe really tough questions: Policy issues for dis-tance learning. *Online Journal of DistanceLearning Administration*, 1(1). <u>http://www.westga.edu/~distance/danley11.html</u>
- Gillett-Swan, J. (2017). The challenges of online learning: Supporting and engaging the isolated learner. *Journal of Learning Design*, 10(1), 20-30.
- Gioia, D. A., Corley, K. G., & Hamilton, A. L. (2013). Seeking qualitative rigor in inductive research: Notes on the Gioia methodology. Organizational research methods, 16(1), 15-31.
- Glaser, B., & Strauss, A. (1967). The Discovery of Grounded Theory: Strategies for Qualitative Research. Mill Valley, CA: Sociology Press.
- Goddard, W. & Melville, S. (2004) "Research Methodology: An Introduction" 2nd ed, Blackwell Publishing
- Goto, S., & Martin, C. (2009). Psychology of success: Overcoming barriers to pursuing further education. *The Journal of continuing higher education*, 57(1), 10–21, doi: 10.1080/07377360902810744

- Graham, C. R., & Misanchuk, M. (2004). Computer-mediated learning groups: Benefits and challenges to using group work in online learning environments. In Online collaborative learning: Theory and practice (pp. 181-202). IGI Global.
- Gunawardane, C. N. and McIsaac, M. S. (2004). "Distance Education." Handbook of Research on Educational Communications and Technology. Ed. David H. Jonassen. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, 2004. (pp. 355-395).
- Ferri, F., Grifoni, P., & Guzzo, T. (2020). Online learning and emergency remote teaching: Opportunities and challenges in emergency situations. Societies, 10(4), 86.
- Harrison J. C. Different Types of Distance Education, (2011). Available from: http://ezinearticles.com/?Different-Types-of-Distance-Education&id=6073038 (Accessed: 2022-03-20)
- Hiltz, S. and Turoff, M., (2005). Education goes digital. Communications of the ACM, 48(10), pp.59-64.
- Holley, D. (2002). "Which room is the virtual seminar in please?". Education and Training, 44(3), pp. 112-121.
- How online learning will change in Uzbekistan after quarantine, (2021). Retrieved from <a href="https://www.spot.uz/ru/2020/11/18/education/">https://www.spot.uz/ru/2020/11/18/education/</a> (Accessed: 14.04.2022)
- Howlett D, Vincent T, Gainsborough N, et al. (2009). Integration of a case-based online module into an undergraduate curriculum: what is involved and what is effective? e-Learning; 6:372–84
- Hrastinski, S. (2017). The Potential of Synchronous Communication to Enhance Participation in Online Discussions, paper presented at the 28th International Conference on Information Systems, Montreal, Canada
- Inoyatova, Z. K. (2021). Organization and Management of Digital Education in Uzbekistan During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Psychology and Education Journal, 58(1), 1983-1994.
- Ivanovich Kurpayanidi, Konstantin, Alisher Makhmudovich Abdullaev, (2020). "Empirical observation in the search of a strategy for the development of e-learning: the case of national universities in Uzbekistan." international journal of multidisciplinary research, pp. 91–103., doi:10.36713/epra4235.
- Karatas, S., & Simsek, N. (2009). Comparisons of internet-based and face-to-face learning systems based on "equivalency of experiences" according to students' academic achievements and satisfaction. Quarterly review of distance education, 10(1), 65-74.

- Karimov, A.Z. and Xikmatov, N.N. (2018) "On the legal regulation of electronic education in the Republic of Uzbekistan," Review of law sciences: Vol. 3: Iss. 1, Article 25. Available at: https://uzjournals.edu.uz/rev\_law/vol3/iss1/25
- Keegan, D. (1986). The Foundations of Distance Education. London: Croom Helm.
- Keengwe, J., and Onchwari, G. (2008). Computer technology integration and student learning: Barriers and promise. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, 17, 560–565
- Knapper, C. (1988). Media and adult learning: A forum: Lifelong learning and distance education.
- Leggett, W.P., & Persichitte, K.A. (1998). Blood, sweat, and TEARS: 50 years of technology implementation obstacles. TechTrends, 43, 33-36.
- MacKeracher, D., Suart, T., Potter, J. (2006). State of the Field Report: Barriers To Participation in Adult Learning. Retrieved from http://www.nald.ca/library/research/sotfr/barriers/barriers.pdf (Accessed: 15.04.22)
- McIsaac, M.S., (2004). Charlotte Nirmalani Gunawardena. Handbook of Research for Educational Communications and Technology, 2, p.355.
- Meacham, D. & Evans, D. (1989). Distance Education: The Design of Study Materials. Open Learning Institute, Charles Stuart University, Wagga Wagga.
- Merriam, S. B. (1984). Adult development; implications for adult education. (Information Series No. 282). Columbus, OH: The Ohio State University, The National Center for Research in Vocational Education. (ERIC Clearinghouse on Adult, Career, and Vocational Education No. ED 246 309).
- Merrill, P. F., K. Hammons, M. N. Tolman, L.Christensen, B. R. Vincent, and P. L. Reynolds. (1992). Computers in education 2nd ed. Neddham Heights, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Mertesdorf, Jane. (1990). "Learning styles and barriers to learning perceived by adult students on campus."
- Miller, G. and Honeyman, M., (1993). Attributes and attitudes of students enrolled in agriculture off-campus videotaped courses. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 34(4), pp.85-92.
- Moore, & W. Anderson, Handbook of distance education (507-792). New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Moore, R., & Fodrey, B. (2018). Distance Education and Technology Infrastructure: Strategies and Opportunities.

- Moreland, P. and Saleh, S., (2007). Faculty Concerns and Sound Solutions. Distance Education for Educators, Trainers, and Leaders, 4(1), pp.53-60.
- Muilenburg L. and Berge Z. (2005) Student barriers to online learning: A factor analytic study, Distance Education, 26:1, 29-48, DOI: 10.1080/01587910500081269
- Niebuhr, V., Niebuhr, B., Trumble, J., & Urbani, M. J. (2014). Online faculty development for creating E-learning materials. Education for Health, 27(3), 255.
- Nigora, X., & Ravshan, U. (2021). System of statistic indicators of regional sustainable development in conditions of the digital economic system, 7(4).
- Oliver, M. (2010). Academic Development: A Framework for Embedding Learning Technology. *International Journal for Academic Development*.
- Popovici, A.; Mironov, C. (2015). Students' Perception of Using eLearning Technologies. Procedia Soc. Behav. Sci. 180, 1514–1519.
- Punch, K.F. (1998) Introduction to Social Research: Quantitative and Qualitative Approaches. Sage, London.
- Ravshan Berdimuratovich Siddikov, (2021) Reforms in The Higher Education System Of Uzbekistan: Problems Of Transformation: *Journal of Contemporary Issues in Business and Government*, Vol 27, Iss 1
- Resolution of the Cabinet of Ministers of the Republic of Uzbekistan dated November 7, 2002, No 385 "On the organization of the Tashkent University of Information Technologies" / https://lex.uz/docs/327307
- Resolution of the President of the Republic of Uzbekistan dated September 28, 2005, No PP191 "On the establishment of a public educational information network of the Republic of Uzbekistan" / https://lex.uz/docs/858969
- Rezabek, R. (1999). Barriers to distance education enrolment. Presented at Telelearning Conference. October. Austin, TX.
- Ribiero, T. (2002). From a distance: Look at distance learning's increased following. Education, 152(9) 85.
- Rumble, G. (1986). Planning and Management of Distance Education. London: Croom Helm,
- Saar, E., Ure, O. B., & Holford, J. (Eds.). (2013). Lifelong learning in Europe: National patterns and challenges. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Saleh, H. K. (2008). Computer self-efficacy of university faculty in Lebanon. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 56, 229-240.

- Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2016). Research Methods for Business Students. England: Pearson Education Limited.
- Schlosser, C.A. and Anderson, M.L., (1994). Distance education: a review of the literature. AECT Publication Sales, 1025 Vermont Ave., NW, Ste. 820, Washington, DC 20005-3547.
- Schlosser, L. A. & Simonson, M. (2009). Distance Education: Definition and Glossary of Terms. 3rd Edition. U.S.:Information Age Publishing
- Schilke, R. A. (2001). A case study of attrition in web-based instruction for adults: Updating Garland's model of barriers to persistence in distance education. (Doctoral dissertation, Northern Illinois University, 2001). UMI No. 3013802.
- Schmidt, G. M. (2008), 'When Is Disruptive Innovation Disruptive?', *Journal of Product Innovation*, vol.25, no.4, pp.347-369.
- Schuetze, H.G. and Slowey, M. (eds) (2000) Higher Education and Lifelong Learners: International Perspectives on Change, London and New York: Routledge Falmer.
- Scida, E.E. and Saury, R.E., (2006). Hybrid courses and their impact on student and classroom performance: A case study at the University of Virginia. CALICO Journal, pp.517-531.
- Segobye, A. K. (2007). Reflections on the university in Africa: The role of the past in education. Social Dynamics, 33(1), 224-231.
- Sherron, G.T. Boettcher, J.V., (1997). Distance learning: The shift to interactivity (Vol. 17). Boulder, CO: Cause.
- Siddikov, R. B. (2021). Reforms In The Higher Education System Of Uzbekistan: Problems Of Transformation. Journal of Contemporary Issues in Business and Government, 27(1), 399-412.
- Sife, A. Edda Lwoga, Camilius Sanga, (2007), New technologies for teaching and learning: Challenges for higher learning institutions in developing countries, Volume
  3, Number 2, ISSN 1814-0556 Publisher: Open Campus, The University of the West Indies
- Simonson, M., Schlosser, C., & Orellana, A. (2011). Distance education research: A review of the literature. *Journal of Computing in Higher Education*, 23(2), 124-142.
- Simonson, Michael and Berg, Gary A. (2016). "Distance learning". Encyclopedia Britannica, 7 Nov. 2016, https://www.britannica.com/topic/distance-learning, (16.04.2021)
- Song, H. J. (2004). Building E-Governance through Reform. Governance Research Series 2. Seoul: Ewha Woman's University Press.

Speedtest Global Index - www.speedtest.net (24.04.2021)

- Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. M. (1990). Basics of qualitative research: Grounded theory procedures and techniques. Sage Publications, Inc.
- Sukamolson, S. (2007). Fundamentals of quantitative research. Language Institute Chulalongkorn University, 1-20.
- Talbert, R. (2020). Research report: What are the biggest barriers to online learning? Robert Talbert, Ph.D. http://rtalbert.org/barriers-for-online-learning/.
- The Ministry for Development of Information Technologies and Communication of the Republic of Uzbekistan. www.mitc.uz (25.04.2021)
- The official website of distance education in Uzbekistan www.dist.edu.uz (28.04.2021)
- The official site of the Ministry of Higher and Secondary Special Education of the Republic of Uzbekistan. http://edu.uz/uz/opendata/ view? id = 3 (16.04.2021)
- Tsai, C. H., Rodriguez, G. R., Li, N., Robert, J., Serpi, A., & Carroll, J. M. (2020). Experiencing the Transition to Remote Teaching and Learning during the COVID-19 Pandemic. Interaction Design and Architecture (s), (46), 70-87.
- Valentine, D. (2002). Distance Learning: Promises, Problems, and Possibilities. Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration. Retrieved from: https://www.westga.edu/~distance/ojdla/fall53/valentine53.html#:~:text=Problems% 20of% 20Distance% 20Learning&text=These% 20problems% 20include% 20the% 20qu ality,distance% 20learning% 20as% 20a% 20product
- Volery, T. (2000). Critical success factors in online education. *The International Journal of Educational Management*, 14(5), pp. 216-223.
- Wang, Q., (2013). A study of barriers to online learning in distance education in China (Doctoral dissertation, University of Nottingham)
- Watkins, R. and Kaufman, R., (2003). Strategic planning for distance education. *Handbook of distance education*, pp.507-517.
- Wilson, J. (2001). Lessons of a Virtual Timetable: Education. The Economist, p. 1
- Wilson, J. (2010) "Essentials of Business Research: A Guide to Doing Your Research Project" SAGE Publications, p.7
- Wood, H., (1996). Designing study materials for distance students. Occasional papers in open and distance learning, 17, pp.25-32.

- Woodcock, J. (2020). Understanding the Distance Education Types. ViewSonic Library. https://www.viewsonic.com/library/education/understanding-the-distance-educationtypes-2/.
- The World Bank Annual Report 2018. World Bank. (2018). https://documents.worldbank.org/en/publication/documentsreports/documentdetail/630671538158537244/the-world-bank-annual-report-2018. (15.04.2021)
- The World Bank (2021) The State of the Global Education Crisis: A Path to Recovery <u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/education/publication/the-state-of-the-global-education-crisis-a-path-to-recovery</u>
- Wright S, O'Brien BC, Nimmon L, Law M, Mylopoulos M. (2016). Research design considerations. *J Grad Med Educ*. 8 1: 97–98
- UNESCO, (2011), CIS on the way to open educational resources

Unesco, (2010), World data on education, 7ed.

27dabbe80774%3F\_%3D193654rus.pdf&locale=en&multi=true&ark=/ark:/48223/pf 0000193654/PDF/193654rus.pdf#%5B%7B%22num%22%3A707%2C%22gen%22 %3A0%7D%2C%7B%22name%22%3A%22XYZ%22%7D%2Cnull%2Cnull%2C0 %5D (15.04.2021)

- United Nations. (n.d.). Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development | Department of Economic and Social Affairs. United Nations. https://sdgs.un.org/2030agenda#:~:text=We%20resolve%2C%20between%20now% 20and,protection%20of%20the%20planet%20and. (15.04.2021)
- Uralov, O. S. (2020). Internationalization of higher education in Uzbekistan. Social Sciences & Humanities Open, 2(1), 100015.
- Yun A. (2016) Corruption in Uzbek higher education: Detrimental impurity for the future.

# **APPENDICES**

# **Appendix 1. Questions Guide**

#### **Demographic characteristics**

1. Briefly introduce yourself- name, name of the university, major, and year in university?

#### Students' experiences and attitudes toward distance education

- 1. You have witnessed the drastic shift the education sector has experienced since March 2020, when education institutions were obliged to move to distance learning. With a few words, how would you describe your experience with shifting to distance learning?
- 2. Do you perceive distance education as more difficult than traditional in-class learning? If yes, please briefly describe your experience.

#### Exploring the barriers to distance education for Uzbek students in HEIs

- 3. How were your classes conducted when you started distance learning at your university?
- 4. Do curriculum, teaching materials, online courses, and resources meet your needs? Please describe your experience.
- 5. Are there any issues regarding the lack of study materials in the Uzbek language? If yes, in what areas.
- 6. Have you had issues with the Internet connection while studying in distance learning format from your Higher Education Institution (HEI)? If yes, please describe your experience with Internet access.
- 7. What issues are you facing with online teaching practices?
- 8. What is your opinion regarding the implementation process for online teaching strategies from your school administration?
- 9. How do you deal with a problem? Do the teachers respond to your problems timely? Are you satisfied with that?
- 10. Have you faced any difficulties in getting a distance learning course due to cultural pressure from family? If yes, briefly describe.
- 11. Were you able to elaborate wisely on your time during the distance learning period? If yes, describe. If not, please specify obstacles that you could not manage your time effectively
- 12. Have you faced the inadequacy of electricity in your area in the period of distance education? If yes, please describe your concerns.
- 13. Have you had all the necessary technological devices for distance learning (e.g., smartphone, laptop, etc.)? Please briefly describe your situation.
- 14. Are there any other factors that hinder your learning efficiency online? On the readiness of Uzbekistan for distance education
- 15. What measures need to be taken to improve students' performance in distance learning at your university or in Uzbekistan?

N#	Gender	Universities/Institutes	Majors	Year in University
1	Male	University of World Economy and Diplomacy	International Relations	2018-2022
2	Female	University of World Economy and Diplomacy	International Law	2017-2021
3	Male	University of World Economy and Diplomacy	International Economics and Management	2018-2022
4	Male	Uzbek State University of World Languages (UzSWLU)	Department of pedagogy and psychology	2018-2022
5	Female	Uzbek State University of World Languages (UzSWLU)	The faculty of International Journalism	2020-2024
6	Female	Ferghana Polytechnic Institute (FarPI)	Management in Production	2018-2022
7	Male	Ferghana Polytechnic Institute (FarPI)	Light industry and textiles	2019-2023
8	Male	Fergana State University	Faculty of Foreign Languages	2020-2024
9	Male	Fergana State University	Faculty of English Language and Literature	2018-2022
10	Female	Tashkent University of Information Technology	Software engineering,	2019-2023
11	Male	Tashkent State Institute of Oriental Studies	Telecommunications technologies	2019-2023
12	Male	Tashkent Institute of Finance	Faculty of economics	2020-2024
13	Male	Tashkent Institute of Finance	Faculty of budget accounting and treasury	2018-2022
14	Female	Webster University in Tashkent	Bachelor of Science in Business Administration	2020-2024
15	Male	Inha University in Tashkent	The Department of Business and Logistics	2018-2022
16	Male	Inha University in Tashkent	The department of economics	2020-2024
17	Female	Tashkent Institute of Architecture and Civil Engineering	Architecture faculty	2020-2024
18	Male	Tashkent Institute of Architecture and Civil Engineering	Construction faculty	2018-2022
19	Male	Tashkent Institute of Architecture and Civil Engineering	Civil Engineering	2020-2024

# Appendix 2. Demographic findings of students

# Appendix 3. Coding quotations via the Gioia data structure

Interview Observations	1 <sup>st</sup> Order	2 <sup>nd</sup> Order	
	Categories	Categories	
I have issues with the Internet connection due to the low signal in my rural area. Admittedly, lack of Internet access was a crucial barrier to my distance education process. As I was obliged to move to my hometown as I was studying for my bachelor's degree in Tashkent.	Frequent lags on websites and online educational platforms	Internet access	
'it is annoying when I wait for uploading a document on Moodle platform or reading educational material due to the slow speed of the Internet.'	Difficulties with uploading a document in online educational technologies	Internet access	
there is only one subject where you need to write notes. In general, by the third year, this is almost not observed. We do not provide video lessons in subjects due to the lack of good Internet speed for many students.	Slow internet speeds in rural areas	Internet access	
'One of the main reasons is the lack of normal Internet speed (Mainly in the regions). The current situation should become an impetus not only for the modernization of education but also for our telecommunications system.'	Slow internet speeds in rural areas	Internet access	
'It happens that the platform hangs when all the students enter. Or tasks are loaded twice, and we do not understand what is happening. Or, for example, when we solve tests, you enter the correct answer "2" and the correct answer is not the number "2" but the word "two". Little things like this are annoying'.	Incorrectly online formatted tests	Technical issues	
'We used mainly Telegram for communication with my fellow students and teachers.'	Poor platform development	Technical issues	
'I usually have lots of housework, therefore, I did not have enough time to study online subjects fully. I prefer the traditional type of education that provides me with specific time to concentrate on my studies.	Feeling uncomfortable due to family; Need for a quiet place	Cultural norms on student's life circumstances	
'My family did not respect my studies through distance learning, and they did not provide me sufficient time to study. They said it was better to look after my child in this phenomenon'.	No supportive from family	Cultural norms on student's life circumstances	
'The difficulty is mainly in the assimilation of online materials. They are difficult to understand without explanations from the teacher'.	Difficulties with the assimilation of digital educational materials	e-Content issues	
'I study bachelor's degree in the sphere of construction, and it is fully conducted in the Uzbek language. Sometimes, I have been given Russian-supported study materials for which I do not know the language. I had to ask a teacher for assistance with translation'.	Limited availability of Uzbek educational	e-Content issues	
'We have nothing without writing. We even wrote some control notes in notebooks, then photographed them and sent them to the teacher'.	Most part online classes involve writing	Tutorial issues	
'I am sure that students do not even look at these materials, but just look at the questions, try to find answers on the	Poor curriculum development	Tutorial issues	
Internet, pass faster and move on to other subjects. Because there are several deadlines per day.'	Insufficient time for students	Tutorial issues	
'We send completed tasks via telegram or upload them to Moodle. We are comfortable. Its just hard for some teachers. Sometimes teachers wrote to us late in the evening, and I understood that their schedules has shifted a lot. I felt a little sorry for them'.	Insufficient time for students; Long time waiting for a response from Telegram	Tutorial issues	
'Lacks at least some lectures. Right now we are just being loaded with a lot of tasks. Teachers also do not have much time and desire to dot his. They just download all the materials. Students can have 10 such subjects.'	Insufficient time for students	Tutorial issues	
'Online learning could continue. But only with a teacher who understands online education and can develop a normal curriculum for a convenient online platform.'	Lack of experience with delivering online class	Tutorial issues	
'Friends from national universities say that teachers skip classes, they use Telegram to study, and they are forced to write notes. Therefore, I think that Uzbekistan is not yet ready for online learning.'	Skipping classes	Tutorial issues	
'I could not understand some online presentations which were provided by a teacher.'	Lack of experience with delivering online class	Tutorial issues	
'During a personal meeting, you can evaluate the presentation of information thanks	Lack of experience with	Tutorial issues	

to intonation and facial expressions. Immediately clarify the nuances, do not expect an answer for a long time, erroneously interpret it as a task or an answer.'	delivering online class	
'In traditional learning, the number of tasks seems to be moderate. Even though seminars were held every day, the preparation for them was not as intense as it is now. Often, teachers evaluate a student by how the student presents the material, and not by its informativeness. In online learning, you have to devote more time to searching and analyzing information to turn in a decent job, because everything is handed over in writing and checked for plagiarism.'	Principal theory-based presentations	Tutorial issues
'Lectures were held only on one subject.	Skipping classes	Tutorial issues
'Academic supervisors can be contacted online. Younger executives use Telegram. With my manager, I can write off mainly through the mail. And each time calling him to look is also inconvenient. We could ask them our short questions after classes or during breaks and get good advice at the university.	Long time waiting for a response from Telegram	Tutorial issues
I remember that it was boring online educational environment due to the repetitive routine of online classes.	Repetitive routine	Poor managing online classes by teachers
Teachers could provide various videos on a topic or creative way of conducting the online class. Unfortunately, most online lectures were theory-based presentations in PowerPoint'	Poor delivering online class, Theory-based presentations	Poor managing online classes by teachers
"at the beginning of a lecture, a teacher delivered some tasks and explained instruction to us actively. Then, he interrupted the lecture for the next session	Lack of experience and creativity in conducting an online class	Poor managing online classes by teachers
'It happens that the platform hangs when all the students enter. Or tasks are loaded twice, and we do not understand what is happening. Or, for example, when we solve tests, you enter the correct answer "2" and the correct answer is not the number "2" but the word "two". Little things like this are annoying'.	Incorrectly online formatted tests	Technical issues
We used mainly Telegram for communication with my fellow students and teachers.'	Poor platform development	Technical issues
Friends from national universities say that teachers skip classes, they use Telegram to study, they are forced to write notes. Therefore, I think that Uzbekistan is not yet ready for online learning.'	lack of contact with a teacher	Students' inattentive behavior
In my opinion, the first steps have already been taken for the development of DE. Maybe in 5-10 years, but not now.'	No trust	Students' inattentive behavior
"no one is watching you; you can easily go online and find the information you need, which greatly demotivates you to prepare for exams. Therefore, I have a conflicting attitude towards this.	Lack of motivation, concentration	Students' inattentive behavior
Based on my fellow students' experience, I can say that distance learning is not suitable for everyone.'	Conflicting attitude, No trust,	Students' inattentive behavior
"it is hard to stay focused when watching video tutorials."	No interest in video tutorials, difficulties with keeping attention,	Students' inattentive behavior
'But there are also engineering students. Here we have a really hard time, we need to master computer graphics, but many do not have computers.'	Lack of laptop or computers among students for writing a research task or home task	Scarcity of e- devices
"I did not have a computer and come up with obstacles in writing my research tasks"	Lack of laptop or computers among students for writing a research task or home task	Scarcity of e- devices
'I used my smartphone for distance education classes. I did not have issues with watching online videos or reading educational materials. However, I could not maintain writing my home tasks on time during the pandemic	Lack of laptop or computers among students for writing a research task or home task	Scarcity of e- devices:
It seems to me that Uzbekistan is not yet ready for distance education. And I say this while in Tashkent. I have no problems with the network. But sometimes there are interruptions. In the regions, someone generally has no electricity for two days. Without even talking about it, it's just that the distance learning system itself, it seems to me, has not been worked out at all.'	Inadequacy of electricity in rural areas	Electricity
I am fed up with sudden interruptions with electricity. I lived in a rural area, and it is	Frequent interruptions with	Electricity

'I usually have lots of housework, therefore, I did not have enough time to study online subjects fully. I prefer the traditional type of education that provides me with specific time to concentrate on my studies.	Feeling uncomfortable due to family, Need for quiet place	Cultural norms on student's life circumstances
'My family did not respect my studies through distance learning, and they did not provide me sufficient time to study. They said it was better to look after my child in this phenomenon'.	No supportive from family, Need for quiet place	Cultural norms on student's life circumstances
'I felt myself uncomfortably during the online class because I have a big family and it was hard to find a quiet place'. A student at the Tashkent Institute of Economics commented 'During the distance learning period, one of the main issues was my parents. Sometimes, they were asking me to look after my little brother instead of watching an educational video'	Poor attendance due to lots of housework responsibilities for female students, Disrespect for online educational process from a female's family	Insufficient conducive learning environment while studying at home
<i>I explained the situation to my family. They were happy that they can monitor my studies.'</i>		Insufficient conducive learning environment while studying at home
'The parents were very afraid of the coronavirus and forbade them to leave the house which is in a rural area but there is no Internet at home.'		Insufficient conducive learning environment while studying at home

# **Appendix 4. Non-exclusive licence**

# A non-exclusive licence for reproduction and publication of a graduation thesis<sup>11</sup>

I Riskbek Rustamov (author's name)

1. Grant Tallinn University of Technology free licence (non-exclusive licence) for my thesis Exploring Student Barriers to Distance Education in Higher Education Institutions in the case

of Uzbekistan (title of the graduation thesis)

Supervised by Shobhit Shakya, PhD, (*supervisor's name*)

1.1 to be reproduced for the purposes of preservation and electronic publication of the graduation thesis, incl. to be entered in the digital collection of the library of Tallinn University of Technology until expiry of the term of copyright;

1.2 to be published via the web of Tallinn University of Technology, incl. to be entered in the digital collection of the library of Tallinn University of Technology until expiry of the term of copyright.

2. I am aware that the author also retains the rights specified in clause 1 of the non-exclusive licence.

3. I confirm that granting the non-exclusive licence does not infringe other persons' intellectual property rights, the rights arising from the Personal Data Protection Act or rights arising from other legislation.

09.05.2022

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The non-exclusive licence is not valid during the validity of access restriction indicated in the student's application for restriction on access to the graduation thesis that has been signed by the school's dean, except in case of the university's right to reproduce the thesis for preservation purposes only. If a graduation thesis is based on the joint creative activity of two or more persons and the co-author(s) has/have not granted, by the set deadline, the student defending his/her graduation thesis consent to reproduce and publish the graduation thesis in compliance with clauses 1.1 and 1.2 of the non-exclusive licence, the non-exclusive license shall not be valid for the period.